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For Andrew
Andrew Goussaert was a pioneer and a 
champion of the growth and evolution of 
a network of 32 independent, community-
owned and controlled Co-op businesses in the 
Northwest Territories, Yukon, and Nunavut. 
Through his hard work, tireless dedication, 
and unprecedented vision, the people of the 
north have used the Co-operative model to 
build the strongest and most diverse group 
of Indigenous-owned businesses in Canada. 
Together, with the leaders in the communities 
we serve, Andrew championed the Co-op 
movement in Canada’s north and his dream 
will forever be a piece of the Canadian 
Arctic landscape.
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h  Michelle Klassen

 Manager, Human Resources

 Celebrating 13 Years

i  Stephane Daigle

 General Manager,  

Arctic Ventures Marketplace

 Celebrating 15 Years

j  Troy Leblanc

 Assistant Manager 

Arctic Ventures Marketplace

 Celebrating 15 Years

1)  Louise England

 General Manager

 Tununiq Sauniq Co‑op

 Celebrating 14 Years

1!  Scott Gordon

 Senior Treasury Clerk

 Celebrating 10 Years

1@  R
hea Bartsch

 Communications Coordinator

 Celebrating 10 Years

1#  D
avid Bond

 Hotel Manager & Chef

 Turaarvik Inns North

 Celebrating 10 Years

1$  R
obin Buchanan

 Procurement Manager

 Merchandising & Logistics

 Celebrating 5 Years

1%  A
dham Adose

 General Manager 

Sanavik Co‑op

 Celebrating 5 Years
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our vision
People working 
together to improve 
their social and 
economic well-being.

We pursue this vision through 
democratically controlled 
Co-operative businesses 
that operate on the values 
of fairness, equality, self-
responsibility, and mutual self  
help. Our Co-operatives believe 
in the ethical values of honesty, 
openness, social responsibility 
and caring for others.

our mission
To provide service to, and enable  

co-operation among, the multi-purpose  
co-operative businesses in Canada’s north.

We do this by providing leadership and expertise to develop and safeguard 
the ownership participation of our Member-Owners in the business and 
commerce of their community, to assure control over their own destiny.

our values  
RELATIONSHIPS. Develop relationships and work in collaboration with all 

stakeholders.  ACCOUNTABILITY. Utilize and enhance the accountability in 
ourselves and our teams.  DEVELOPMENT. Coach/develop staff to take on 

greater responsibilities and work to their full potential.  DIVERSITY. Understand, 
recognize, and utilize the diverse and unique talents of employees and potential 

employees.  SERVICE AND SUPPORT. Demonstrate and promote a sincere 
desire to provide service and support to our Members and customers
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Values Co-operatives are based on the values of self-help, self-responsibility, democracy, equality, 
equity, and solidarity. In the tradition of their founders, Co-operative Members believe in the ethical values of 
honesty, openness, social responsibility and caring for others

A Co‑operative is an autonomous association of persons united voluntarily 
to meet their common economic, social, and cultural needs and aspirations 
through a jointly owned and democratically‑ controlled enterprise.
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WORKING TOGETHER IS THE BEST STRATEGY TO BENEFIT MEMBERS AND BUILD A  
STRONGER CO‑OP ECONOMY. 

ALL CO‑OP MEMBERS 
ALL CO‑OP MEMBERS INVEST IN THEIR 

INVEST IN THEIR CO‑OPERATIVE WHEN 
CO‑OPERATIVE WHEN THEY SHOP THERE;  

THEY SHOP THERE;  CO‑OP PROFITS STAY IN 
CO‑OP PROFITS STAY IN THE COMMUNITY. 

THE COMMUNITY. 

Statement of  
Co-operative Identity

Co-operative  
Principles

CO‑OPS DO NOT DISCRIMINATE. 

ANYONE CAN JOIN. 

For the full text of the seven principles, visit: 
arctic‑coop.com/index.php/about‑co‑ops/statement‑on‑co‑op‑identity‑principles/

CO‑OPS PROVIDE EDUCATION, TRAINING, AND INFORMATION SO EVERYONE CAN CONTRIBUTE TO THE SUCCESS OF THE CO‑OP. 

CO‑OPS ARE NOT CONTROLLED BY A CORPORATION; THEY ARE 
GOVERNED LOCALLY. 
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Strategic Initiatives 
2018-2022

Nine Goals – 2018-2022: 
Five Pillars of Performance
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h
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d
Restructure 
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with local skill set
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Increase capital 
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e
Strengthen 
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development

j
Champion key 

social causes in 
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f
Enhance Co‑op 

identity

We 
Value 

• Relationship
• Accountability
• Development

• Diversity 
• Service &  

Support

2021-2022
• Champion social issues

• Develop and establish an 
e‑commerce platform

Completed  
in 2018

• Established and implemented a system 
and process review framework to identify, 
prioritize and implement re‑engineering 
efforts in alignment with strategic plans

Completed  
in 2019

• Restructured General 
Manager position

Completed  
in 2020

• Developed 
and enhanced 
training programs 
System‑wide

2019-2020
• Implement 

Counterpoint System 
as a replacement for 
Web PO and IMF 

• Development and 
Implement a Member 
Engagement Program 
that promotes the 
Co‑op identity

• Develop and 
Establish new 
Co‑op Business and 
partnerships within 
existing new markets

Arctic Co‑op’s Greatest Hits 

1972‑2022



As we begin 2022 poised to 
celebrate a 50-year history 
of a shared vision to build 
stronger communities 
through providing essential 
services and valuing 
individual Member-
Owners, it should come 
as no surprise that where 
we have come from has 
shaped and guided us to 
success and prosperity 
in a year of challenges, 
frustrations, and uncertainty.

2022 marks the 50th Anniversary of 
Arctic Co-operatives Limited, and 
as we look back to the beginning 
of our history, traditional ways 
were the basis for starting early 
Co-ops in the Canadian Arctic. Art 
production, fur harvesting, and 
commercial fisheries exemplify how 
the traditional way of life supplied 
the first Co‑ops with an economic 

base that provided the 
foundation to build other essential 
services into the communities we 
serve and support. Soon, Member 
Co-ops began incorporating 
fuel and water delivery, sewage 
removal, retail services, hotel 
operations, and a variety of other 
community enterprises into their 
business. Today we have expanded 
that model to include modern 
business units like residential and 
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“In 1972, we saw the beginnings of the Co‑op 
System in the Arctic. Our 50th anniversary is a 
historic day for our Members, Member Co‑ops, 
and Support Office staff. The idea of working 
together to help each other is at the very heart 

of the Co‑operative model and we appreciate our many 
supporters and partners for helping us to achieve this 
significant milestone. We look forward to the next 50 years 
of building communities and engaging our Members to 
improve the lives and livelihood of the people of the Arctic.”
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commercial real estate and cable television 
services. What we have become is a 
testament to where we came from.

As early Co-op leaders realized the need for 
better service and support in their ongoing 
growth pursuits, the need to form a Service 
Federation that would assist Co-ops in 
the Arctic become leaders of the northern 
economy became apparent. Coming 
together to create a Service Federation 
helped consolidate purchasing power, 
enabled coordinated transportation, and 
offered a wide range of management 
and other professional services. The 
establishment of the Arctic Co-operative 
Development Fund in 1986 provided the 
access to capital to grow Co-op footprints by 
providing a Co-operative borrowing solution 
that allowed Member Co-ops to expand 
and modernize facilities and kept effective 
interest rates substantially lower than those 
of a traditional bank.

Local people have always been at the 
heart of this rich tradition and history of 
sustainable growth, and this focus on people 
has led us to build the strategic partnerships 
that have helped us prosper. Entering 
strategic partnerships with Nunavut Sealink 
and Supply (NSSI), First Nations Bank of 
Canada (FNBC), Chrono Aviation, and 
Ardicom has provided the System with price 
and capacity certainty as it relates to freight 
and logistics, given financial services to 
Members who would otherwise be unable 
to access it, and helped achieve financial 
stability. These partnerships and networks 
have significantly expanded non‑member 

business and allowed us to strengthen our 
ties to the regional Inuit associations, as 
we find ourselves ideally situated to assist 
with their food security and pandemic 
relief efforts.

Our history and Member-focused way of 
doing business have led us to the favorable 
position we sit in now. The planning 
and strategy executed since the Service 
Federation was formed in 1972 have 
delivered the financial stability to begin 
to turn even more of our attention and 
resources to matters that are important to 
the Membership. Supporting mental health 
and combatting food insecurity in the Arctic 
are actionable objectives, as we embark 
on a year of celebrating 50 years of success 
and building a secure future for the next 
generation of Co-operators.
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President’s 
Message
2021 was not the year we expected. 
It was intended to be the year where we 
left the challenges and frustrations of the 
pandemic behind us and moved back to 
the more familiar place we had come from. 
While that did not happen in the ways 
that most of us had hoped for, the strength 
and resilience shown across the Service 
Federation is a consistent reflection of 
the last 50 years of Arctic Co‑operatives 
Limited’s history. 

Mark Needham 
President



NOAH TIKTAK
Represents District 3

Having a strong Board of Directors 
serving the best interests of the Service 
Federation is dependent on having 
strong Boards of Directors for local 
Member Co-ops. Local Boards who 
provide strong strategic direction to 
their General Manager, are better 
positioned to understand the unique 
considerations of their community, 
and better able to understand where 

those needs fit in relative to the greater 
well-being of the Service Federation. 
Strong, engaged local Boards 
participate and make invaluable 
contributions to the district meetings 
that occur twice a year, which in turn 
ensure the concerns of all boards 
are heard at the Service Federation 
level during the Arctic Co-operatives 
Limited Annual Meeting.

One of the most important strategic 
measures the Board of Directors oversees 
for the Service Federation is its Balanced 
Scorecard. The Balanced Scorecard is the 
agreed upon set of internal measures that are 
in place to measure the progress that we have 
made on our strategic plan across all areas 
of the organization. The Balanced Scorecard 
is in place to ensure that People, Financial 
Success, Member Engagement, and Social 

Good all receive consideration when charting 
the path of the organization, and that one 
objective never supersedes another in the 
overall pursuit of sustainably growing the 
type of organization we aspire to be.

For the first time in Federation history, 
a formal five‑year strategic plan was brought 
forward, by management, approved by the 
Board of Directors, and completed. The eight 

Strategic Initiatives detailed in that plan 
will be completed in 2022, and the Board 
will be presented with a new Strategic Plan. 
It’s fitting that in a year where we collectively 
look to celebrate the successes that have 
been achieved together over the last half 
century, would also be the year where 
we turn our attention to the future and 
begin establishing the framework to guide 
future generations.  
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PAULOOSIE KOWMAGEAK
2nd Vice President –
Represents District 1

Board of  
Directors
Arctic Co‑operatives Limited’s Board of 
Directors are elected by delegates from 
the communities the Federation provides 
service and support to. On behalf of 
Member‑Owners, the Board assumes legal 
responsibility to oversee the management 
and affairs of Arctic Co‑operatives Limited. 
The Board is committed to the greater 
interest of the Federation as a whole and 
pledge to conduct all its affairs honestly and 
with integrity. They work with the Arctic 
Co‑operatives Senior Leadership Team 
to achieve the organization’s Mission and 
Vision and expect this to be accomplished 
within the identified set of System values. 
The Board’s role in this process is to provide 
strategic direction and provide management 
with a mandate on how their efforts will 
best serve the Service Federation.

SALOMON MIKKI
Represents District 2

PETER JAMES VITTREKWA
Represents District 6

MARK NEEDHAM
President – Represents District 5  

(at Large Mackenzie)
DAVID KAOSONI

Represents District 4
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1959 The first 
community-based 
Co-ops were 
incorporated.

1965 Canadian Arctic 
Producers (CAP) was 
incorporated as a limited 
company by 12 producer 
Co-operatives and the 
Government of Canada 
to market the arts and 
crafts of local Co-ops.

1972 The Canadian 
Arctic Co-operative 
Federation Limited 
(CACFL) was 
incorporated by 26 
community-based 
Co-ops in February 
1972 to provide 
support services 
to local Member 
Co-ops. 

1979 Canadian 
Arctic Producers 
was restructured 
as a Co-operative, 
Canadian Arctic 
Producers 
Co-operative 
Limited (CAPCL).

1981 Arctic 
Co-operatives Limited 
was incorporated 
to manage the 
amalgamation 
of the Canadian 
Arctic Co-operative 
Federation Limited 
and Canadian 
Arctic Producers 
Co-operative Limited.

1985 
The support 
offices of Arctic 
Co-ops were 
relocated from 
Yellowknife, NT, 
and Ottawa, ON 
to Winnipeg, MB. 

1986 Northwest 
Territories Co-operative 
Business Development 
Fund (CBDF) was 
incorporated in April 1986 
as the financial arm of 
the community-based 
Co-ops in the Arctic.

1999 Northwest 
Territories 
Co-operative Business 
Development 
Fund (CBDF) was 
renamed as the 
Arctic Co-operative 
Development Fund 
(ACDF).

2022  
On February 22, 2022, 
Arctic Co-operatives 
Limited will mark its 
50th anniversary. 

2003 The bylaws of 
the Arctic Co-operative 
Development 
Fund (ACDF) were 
implemented to 
provide that the Board 
of Directors of Arctic 
Co-operatives Limited 
would also serve as the 
Board of Director of 
the Arctic Co-operative 
Development 
Fund Co-operative 
Development Fund. 

2015 Canadian 
Arctic Producers 
marks its 50th 
Anniversary.

2004 The Support 
Office of the Arctic 
Co operative Development 
Fund was consolidated 
in the Winnipeg 
Support Office of Arctic 
Co-operatives Limited. 

2012 Arctic 
Co-operatives 
Limited 
celebrates its 
40th anniversary. 

2020 Arctic Co-ops 
enters into partnership 
agreement, investing in 
Chrono Aviation.

2014 Arctic 
Co-operatives 
Limited 
adopts a new 
corporate 
identity. 

2014 Incorporation 
of Old Crow Co-op, 
the Federations first 
Member Co-op in 
the Yukon. 

Corporate History of  
Arctic Co-operatives Limited

1955 1960 1965 1970 1975 1980 1985 1995 2000 2005 2010 2015 2020 2025

1982 The formal 
amalgamation 
of the Canadian 
Arctic Co-operative 
Federation 
Limited, Canadian 
Arctic Producers 
Co-operative 
Limited, and Arctic 
Co-operatives Limited 
was completed and 
Arctic Co-ops became 
the sold Service 
Federation of Member 
Co-ops in the Arctic. 
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to Member Co‑ops both at the office and 
remotely. At the community level, plans 
were developed and executed to continue 
safe practices and supply vital personal 
protective equipment, along with assisting 
communities impacted by COVID-19 
with their emergency planning. Member 
Co-ops should be very proud of how they 
supported their Members throughout these 
difficult times.

Refusing to be defined by limitations also 
enabled us to make meaningful differences 
in distressed communities. In 2021, we 
continued to support the community of 
Grise Fiord, NU and ensured a steady supply 
of essentials were available. Arctic Co-ops 
also took a leading role in securing clean 
water for the people of Iqaluit, NU during 
the water crisis their community faced. 
Additionally, we helped facilitate the delivery 
of food bank contributions for the people in 
Clyde River, NU despite not having a Co-op 
to support in that community; it was simply 
the right thing to do. Arctic Co-operatives 
worked together in partnership with Second 
Harvest and Food Banks Canada to help 
overcome the distribution challenges 
of the Arctic and supply food to several 
communities.  We were able to successfully 
increase the volume of our corporate 
donations to $127,543 in 2021. In 2021 we 
lived up to our Vision and demonstrated 
that, to our organization, it is more than just 
words on our wall.

2021 was a year that motivated our Culture, 
strengthened our Mission as a way of 
life for our organization, and aligned our 

operational and strategic efforts to move 
us forward with purpose and stability. As 
a business, we made significant strides to 
retain influence and control over our critical 
supply chain through the expansion of our 
airline relationships. This is another step 
in our strategy towards leveraging strong 
relations to help ensure price and supply 
stability for Members. 

As we look ahead to 2022, we embrace 
the opportunity to further improve our 
financial footing and grow our capacity to 
serve Member-Owners. We will continue 
to evaluate external business opportunities 
and expand strategic partnerships. We 
remain committed to investing in business 
resources and infrastructure and are equally 
dedicated to committing resource efforts 
to helping advance social well-being in the 
communities we serve and support.

As we look ahead to 2022, 
we embrace the opportunity 
to further improve our 
financial footing and grow 
our capacity to serve Member-
Owners. We will continue to 
evaluate external business 
opportunities and expand 
strategic partnerships. We 
remain committed to investing 
in business resources and 
infrastructure and are equally 
dedicated to committing 
resource efforts to helping 
advance social well-being in 
the communities we serve 
and support.

It became evident that the lessons 
we learned during the pandemic 
were not simply a means to survive, 
they taught us that we could be 
quicker and agile in our pursuit 
of supporting our Members.  We 
improved financial stability which 
enabled us to allocate more support 
and resources towards our strategic 
objectives.  We enter 2022 with 
the desire and capacity to make 
significant contributions to help 
address food security and social 
well-being in the Arctic; both of 
which are initiatives brought forth 
by our Members. 

The financial stability achieved 
through the committed support 
of our Members has enabled us 
to pursue meaningful objectives 
on behalf of the communities we 
serve. The Federation continues 
to measure success through our 
Balanced Scorecard to ensure 
we leverage financial success to 
deliver meaningful results in the 
development of people and the 
well-being of communities. Our 
Strategic Plan is guided by our 

Vision, Mission and Values for 
the purpose of achieving a cycle 
of success which promotes the 
advancement of our pursuit of 
improving the social and economic 
well-being of the communities we 
serve and support. 

2021 will be remembered as the 
year we committed to changing 
the way we thought about our 
business and used what we had 
learned during the pandemic to get 
back to Member interaction and 
support with a renewed sense of 
togetherness and strength. 

Throughout the year, a balance of 
maintaining safety and support was 
achieved for all System employees. 
As we prepared our Support Office 
in Winnipeg, MB for a safe return 
to in-person interaction, we also 
made many changes to our work 
environment that will shape and 
drive our company’s culture for 
years to come. Improvements to the 
Support Office ensured that staff 
remained safe, drove engagement, 
and provided continued support 

1918

“I am thankful for having served Member 
Co‑op communities over the past 19 years and 
have enjoyed travel to the different regions of 
the Arctic. Arctic travel has introduced me to 
beautiful landscape and amazing people who 
have always made me feel welcome.”

Arctic Co‑operatives Limited / Arctic Co‑operative Development Fund	 2021 ANNUAL REPORT   2021 ANNUAL REPORT Arctic Co‑operatives Limited / Arctic Co‑operative Development Fund

Message  
from the CEO
While 2020 went down in history 
as an unprecedented year, at Arctic 
Co‑operatives Limited, 2021 will be 
remembered as a year of progress and 
growth in the history of the Service 
Federation. While 2020 is remembered as 
a year that led to change out of necessity, 
2021 will be remembered as the year 
that our strategic foresight, planning, and 
execution put us in a position of strength 
in pursuit of our mandate to better serve 
Member Co‑ops. Though 2020 forced us 
to change so we were able to serve and 
support our Members virtually, 2021 
proved that we had done more than 
just adapt to the current environment, 
we had collectively evolved with purpose, 
into something stronger than before.

Rod Wilson 
Chief Executive Officer



Governance
 While 2020 brought our initial virtual 
Annual Meeting, 2021 gave us the 
chance to enhance the experience for 
participating Delegates.

 While Delegates prefer the opportunity 
to meet face-to-face, they successfully 
embraced the use of an online platform. 

 It was encouraging to see an equal male 
to female participation at the 2021 Virtual 
Annual Meeting. 28 Male attendees, 
29 female attendees were present. 

 Increased participation from Member 
Co-op Directors in virtual district 
conference calls.

 Assisted in the development of an 
alternate format for Member Co-op 
Annual General Meetings after many 
were forced to hold socially distanced or 
paper meetings. 

Food Security
 A Community Hunter Sponsorship 
Program was developed to assist hunters 
in the Arctic to carry out a community 
harvest hunt three seasons of the year. 
A System-wide launch is planned for 
January 2022.  

 A partnership with Second Harvest 
was formed, resulting in 61,700 
pounds of food delivered directly to 
community members.  

 Collaborated with Logistics and Member 
Co-ops to assist Second Harvest expand 
their generosity to Member Co-ops and 
provide product to numerous foodbanks 
in the Arctic. 

Mental Health
 Collaborated across the organization 
to create an outreach plan, focused 
on making mental health a System-
wide priority. 

 Championed the creation of a Mental 
Health committee to ensure resources 
and outreach is top of mind. 

Service & Support
 Worked with the Construction and 
Maintenance Department to create a safe 
space for employees to return to after an 
extended work from home model. 

 Worked with Innovation and 
Infrastructure Services to ensure the 
organization had the technology to 
enable collaboration in the hybrid 
work environment. 

 Helped facilitate Member Co-op Annual 
General Meetings and materials for Co-op 
Annual General Meetings. 

 Organized and facilitated district 
conference calls that resulted in 
increased participation and engagement. 
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Corporate 
Services
The Corporate Services Division serves 
as the primary resource for the Service 
Federation promoting ongoing governance 
excellence at local Co‑ops. They assist 
in helping Member Co‑ops through the 
coordination and administration of the 
necessary specifics required to ensure 
ongoing governance compliance. The 
division takes an active role in working 
with local Co‑op Boards of Directors to 
provide the essential support to make sure 
that Board members understand their 
role and the role of the Co‑op General 
Manager. Corporate Services continues 
to provide education and guidance to help 
stakeholders understand and appreciate 
the differences between the governance 
and operational roles that live within the 
Arctic Co‑ops System.

20

2022
Looking Ahead  

 A continued focus on enhancing 
the importance of governance at 
Member Co‑ops.  

 To assist in the drive towards 
removing the stigma of mental 
health, a Member‑driven holistic 
approach will be taken.

 Launch of Hunter Sponsorship 
Program in January 2022. “One of my most memorable moments is when 

we transitioned from a 500‑page binder to a 
digital format. The moment I saw Peter Aklah, 
a non-English speaking Director from Tununiq 
Sauniq Co-op in Pond Inlet, NU adapting so 

well to new technology and processes reassured me how 
adaptive our culture is.”
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Corporate Services also remains committed to partnering with the 
Operations Division to help Member Co-ops comply with all necessary 
requirements to maintain good standing defined by the Co‑op Act. 
Their efforts provide a safety net of checks and balances that make 
certain Member Co-ops are always able to maintain their autonomy and 
independence. Through maintaining good relationships with Member 
Co-op Boards and taking an active approach to providing service and 
support, Corporate Services makes sure that the lines of communication 
remain open across the Service Federation.

2021 Highlights

Mary Nirlungayuk Vice President & Corporate Secretary



Organizational Strategy
 Created the next Board of Director 

approved three-year strategy.  

 The 2021 strategic plan is coming 
was successfully executed 
and completed. 

 Brought forward the 2022 
Strategic Initiatives following a 
full review of the strategic plan. 

 Increased collaboration across 
the System to include additional 
Member feedback.  

 Significant input from Kincentric 
survey in respect to mental 
health support.

Learning and 
Performance

 Multiple online modules have 
been developed as part of the new 
employee on-boarding process. 

 Nine in-person training courses 
required to run Member Co-op 
business units were delivered 
across the Arctic, one of which 
was delivered in Inuktitut. 

 As part of our balanced scorecard, on 
average, an investment of $2,007 per 
Arctic Co-ops employee was made on 
formal professional development. 

 Expanded the leadership training 
program to employees interested 
in advancing their career within the 
Co‑op System. 

Payroll
 Over $1,000,000 was received through 
successful wage subsidy applications 
with funds going directly to Subsidiaries 
and Member Co-ops. 

 The department manages over 
40 payroll runs and continues to assist 
outside organizations. 

Human Resources 
 Sourced and attended six 
virtual job fairs, each resulting in 
attracting successful candidates.

 Engagement efforts continued as part 
of the People at Arctic Co-operative 
Engaged (PACE) initiative. This included 
health and wellness programs, virtual and 
in-person events to welcome new staff, 
virtual craft night and much more. 
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2022
Looking Ahead  

 Four virtual recruitment events 
scheduled for 2022. 

 Virtual and in‑person 
engagement events.

 Focus on executing 2022 
Strategic Initiatives.

 Training opportunities for all staff will 
continue to remain a priority. 

 Subsidy applications to assist Member 
Co‑op and Subsidiaries will continue. 

“2021 was a challenging year for the operations 
and the people of Arctic Co‑operatives. However, 
despite trying times, we have emerged from these 
challenges even stronger than before because we 
continued to work together. If it were not for the 

efforts of our staff in Home Office, Member Co-ops, and the 
subsidiaries, none of this would have been possible.”
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Human 
Resources
Building a Service Federation that pushes 
the boundaries of how to make work a 
better place is the mandate the Arctic 
Cooperatives Limited Human Resources 
Division is tasked with. The Human 
Resources Division attracts top talent to 
the Co‑op System; they keep employees 
well trained, administer compensation, and 
work hard to build a cultural environment 
for the organization that is fun, engaging, 
high performing, and reflects our values. 
Additionally, the Human Resources 
Division has been tasked with enforcing 
the necessary safety protocols to keep us 
safe, while providing the necessary support 
to help ensure sufficient consideration is 
given to mental health concerns.

There are three departments within the Human Resources Division who 
assume accountability for the well-being of the organization’s intellectual 
capital. The Human Resources Department attracts and retains top talent 
for Member Co‑ops and the Support Office in Winnipeg, MB. The Learning 
and Performance Department provide all employees in the Co-op System 
with the necessary training and education to be successful in their pursuit 
of building a high-performing business unit. Finally, the Payroll Department 
is tasked with administering separate payroll, benefits, and pension for over 
40 individual business units across the communities we serve and support.

2021 Highlights
Ed Keddy 
Vice President
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 Mitiq Co‑op’s Inns North Hotel in 
Sanikiluaq, NU suffered significant 
wind damage in 2020. Construction 
efforts began in 2021 to rebuild the 
hotel with a planned reopening in 
the spring of 2022. 

 Paleajook Co‑op in Taloyoak, NU will 
open an additional business unit in 
partnership with First Nations Bank 
in 2022. This will be the eighth First 
Nations Bank of Canada community 
banking centre in the Arctic 
Co‑ops System. 

 The Operations Division will facilitate 
the launch of an enhanced Spirit Card 
program in 2022.

“I was born the same year that Arctic Co‑ops 
was founded which must have been some sort 
of fate.  I feel fortunate everyday to be serving 
the Member Co‑ops and Member‑Owners of 
Arctic Co-ops knowing that our efforts make a 

difference in the life of the people of the Arctic. It’s truly an 
honour and privilege.”
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Operations
The Operations Division is accountable 
for providing the necessary operational 
guidance and oversight to ensure that 
Member Co‑ops enjoy continued and 
sustainable success. Each Member Co‑op 
is its own entrepreneurial organization 
built with commercial businesses that are 
run independently and allow Member‑
owners to capitalize on the unique 
opportunities present in their communities. 
Together, they build a diverse portfolio 
of community‑owned businesses, and 
the Operations Division is tasked with 
providing the necessary insight and 
guidance to help these businesses meet 
their long and short‑term objectives. They 
are an invaluable resource to local Boards 
of Directors by assisting them achieve 
operational and governance excellence. 

Member Co-ops 
 Collective net savings $30M, 
up by $10M compared to 2020. 

 Member Co-ops received 
$10.8M in patronage from 
Arctic Co‑operatives Limited.

 Member Co-ops in turn 
paid $19.2M in patronage to 
community Members in 2021.

 Member Co-ops contributed 
to the sustainability of their 
communities by spending $31M 
in salaries and hourly wages 
across the Arctic Co-ops System. 

 Member Co-ops employed 
821 people in 2021.

 Igloolik Co-op in Igloolik, NU 
suffered a devastating fire that 
consumed their retail store. 
The Emergency Response Team 
was able to quickly mobilize and 
ensure the basic needs of the 
community were met.

Through the established team of District Support Advisors, Contract 
Support Officers, and Business Support Specialists, the Operations 
Division works diligently to provide Member Co-ops the support to operate 
profitable businesses. The collective expertise of the Operations Division 
extends to grocery and general merchandise retailing, pharmacies, 
hotels, restaurants, convenience stores, art marketing, fuel delivery, cable 
television services, general contracting, power equipment, and construction 
and maintenance.

2021 Highlights

Construction  
and Maintenance 

 Member Co-ops spent over $1.1M 
maintaining their vehicle fleets.

 Member Co-ops continued to make 
capital investments, spending more than 
$13.6M on upgrades and renovations to 
their current facilities. 

 Koomiut Co‑op expanded their retail 
offering in Kugaaruk, NU in November 2021.

 The Sauniq Inns North Hotel in Pond 
Inlet, NU added a second wing, adding 
14 rooms and opened for business in 
November 2021. 

 The Support Office in Winnipeg, MB 
received necessary improvements to 
increase employee engagement between 
staff, provide additional meeting spaces, 
and enhance employee safety.

Iqaluit, NU Subsidiaries
 Subsidiary businesses in Iqaluit, NU, are 
wholly owned by the Arctic Co-operatives 
Limited System and contribute to the 
patronage Arctic Co-ops returns to 
Member Co-ops. 

 The scale of the operation in Iqaluit 
provides significant purchasing volume 
to the entire Federation and contributes 
to the overall purchasing power of all 
Member Co-ops. 

 The subsidiaries in Iqaluit continue to 
perform well and have helped strengthen 
the federation with a positive net savings. 

 To ensure efficiency and reduce 
ongoing losses, Sikitu Sales and Services 

exited their current facility and was 
amalgamated with Arctic Ventures.  

Business Support Services 
 Virtual and onsite visits became a focus 

for hotel and food service operations in 
preparation of reduced Covid-19 restrictions.

 Hotel occupancy has increased as travel 
restrictions reduced in 2021.

 In conjunction with the new Koomiut 
Co-op opening, quick serve prepared hot 
meals are now available for Members 
to purchase. 

 In trying to deliver a comparable cable 
experience to what cable subscribers 
receive in the south, the ongoing 
refinement of the cable program 
has resulted in a 9% increase in cable 
revenues compared to last year for 
the federation.  

Art Marketing 
 The Arctic Co-ops wholesale art marketing 

arm, Canadian Arctic Producers, continues 
to support their mandate to promote, 
protect and preserve Inuit and Dene art 
by purchasing $552K from Member Artists 
in the Arctic. 

 To reduce ongoing losses, Northern Images 
in Yellowknife, NT closed, and the building 
was sold in 2021. To keep a presence in 
the community, Yellowknife Co-op has a 
display of Inuit art for purchase. 

 Significant enhancements to the 
Northern Images and Canadian Arctic 
Producers website are underway.

Jack Ediger 
Vice President



2021 Virtual 
Tradeshow

 Held the first ever online virtual 
trade show in March 2021.

 A virtual event meant that the 
department had to reinvent 
processes traditionally associated 
with managing an in-person 
trade show.

 The online format of the trade 
show in 2021 allowed General 
Managers more opportunity to 
review the product suppliers 
had available and make better 
purchasing decisions for 
their communities.

 The online show was a 
resounding success. Purchases 
were up by over $2,000,000 from 
the last in-person show. 

Supply Chain  
Management and 
Information Department

 2021 was the first year that the Supply 
Chain Management and Information 
Department was fully operational and 
providing support to both Procurement 
and Logistics. 

 Emphasis was placed on developing 
processes that allowed other 
departments in the division to operate 
more efficiently and focus on their 
core functions.

 Developed and implemented a ticketing 
system to track all the concurrent 
optimizations the department was 
managing thoroughly and effectively.

Procurement Department
 Better assortments and pricing resulted 
in 2021 store purchases achieving 
an increase of 10% over the planned 
purchases for 2021. 

 The Procurement Department was 
tasked with and delivered a product 
offering to Members so that the supply 
chain challenges that the world wrestled 
with in 2021 did not impact them 
as severely.

 Covid‑19 created significant supply chain 
challenges that required the importance 
of the procurement team to find:

 Replacement vendors when existing 
ones were unable deliver.

 New products.

 Substitute products.

Logistics Department
 The Logistics Department managed 
to ensure Members were not effected 
by global supply chain disruptions 
during a year with significant changes 
and interruptions.

 Partnered with Second Harvest and 
Food Banks Canada to help provide 
logistics support to guarantee the 
delivery of food to several food banks 
in the Arctic. 

 In partnership with Second Harvest, 
we shipped more than 30 tons of food, 
to food banks in the Arctic. 

 Successfully renegotiated contracts 
with four major airlines that fly product to 
Member Co-ops for 2022.

E-Commerce
 Built a transactional e-commerce 
platform offering a wider assortment 
of products.

 The launch product assortment was 
chosen based on Member feedback.

 Available product will be offered 
at prices that are competitive with 
southern retailers.

 A percentage of the profit from 
e-commerce transactions will go to 
the Co-op the 
order is shipped 
to, sales will also 
contribute to 
Member purchases. 
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 Airline contracts starting in 2022 that 
will maintain service levels and result in 
very minimal price changes. 

 Launching a fully enabled e‑commerce 
platform that will offer product that had 
previously been unavailable to Members 
through brick‑and‑mortar retail.

 The 2022 Trade Show will once again 
be done in a virtual environment. 
New electronic ordering processes 
are underway to make this process 
more efficient. 

 The continued development of cross‑
departmental efficiencies that will 
help build better product offerings 
for Members.

“As a retail veteran, I have experienced many 
difficult situations and 2021 was by far, one I will 
never forget. Through it all, we have come out 
of it stronger. We developed new processes and 
have come up with creative solutions to take on 

changes and challenges. I am proud of our team; watching 
them navigate through shifts in the industry. We were driven 
by our organizational Values and drive to serve and support 
our Member Co‑ops.”
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Merchandising  
& Logistics
Overcoming the challenges associated with 
delivering a diverse assortment of products 
to remote communities in the Canadian 
Arctic is the primary focus of the 
Merchandising and Logistics Division. The 
division remains committed to the ongoing 
pursuit of building innovative, exciting 
product assortments, and improving 
the logistical network used to distribute 
products to the communities we serve 
and support. The division prides itself 
on building product offerings that reflect 
modern trends, offer quality, value, and are 
consistent with the offerings from top tier 
retailers in southern Canada.

The Merchandising and Logistics Division consists of three service-
focused departments that are responsible for ensuring Member Co-ops 
have product on their shelves. The Procurement Department focuses 
on sourcing products that meet the needs of the communities we 
serve and negotiates pricing on behalf of Member Co-ops. The Logistics 
Department manages the complex process of scheduling ongoing 
shipments of products into communities. The Supply Chain Management 
and Information Department manages the administrative functions of the 
division’s other two departments. They collect the necessary operating data 
and report it back to the other departments with the intent of facilitating 
an ongoing cycle of data driven decision making. 

2021 Highlights Barry McLeod 
Vice President



Business Continuity
 Continued progress with our 
cyber security improvements to 
ensure Member Co-op operations 
and data remain safeguarded.

 Continuous improvements in 
video conferencing in meeting 
spaces a to facilitate the Support 
Office’s return to work. 

 Initiated Business Continuity 
Support plans for Igloolik Co-op 

during and after their store fire 
to ensure continued supply of 
essential products and services to 
their community.

 Upgraded the key system used 
by all Co-ops for their Accounts 
Payable and Accounts Receivable 
processes. The upgrade will help 
mitigate risk and ensure time 
sensitive financial reports are 
delivered to the Co-ops.

Organizational Effectiveness
 Piloted a new Tax Program to provide 
income tax support to our Members 
during tax season.

 Implemented an Electronic Shelf 
Label Pilot program at Arctic Ventures 
Marketplace in Iqaluit, NU. 

Infrastructure Services
 Provisioned faster, more reliable Internet 
for our Member Co-ops.

 Implemented a Centralized Service 
Desk model and onboarded many 
departments to improve service for 
Member Co-ops. 

Application Development 
Services

 Made great progress in our Member 
Co-op Ordering System Rollout 
(CounterPoint), with majority onboarded 
by the end of November and remaining 
to be complete in the first quarter 
of 2022.

 Streamlined the Member data collection 
process at the Co-op to ensure Member 
data is up-to-date and accurate, thereby 
improving overall communication.
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 Launching the new Point of Sale 
System, with the goal of piloting the 
first site in Spring of 2022 and rolling 
out seven subsequent sites over the 
course 2022. 

 Targeting continuous service 
improvements through technology 
and automations in Cable Television 
Service, Accounts Receivables and 
Security Systems support, with more 
services to follow.

“During my short time at Arctic Co-ops, 
I have been impressed with our northern 
community Members, who are warm, hospitable, 
and generous with their time and ideas. 
Our dynamic workforce is truly passionate about 

serving our Member communities in the Arctic.  With our 
Member-centric focus and agile mindset, I’m excited for 
the opportunity to lead the Innovation and Infrastructure 
Services team in 2022 and beyond. This team is strongly 
positioned to meet the needs of our Members today and into 
the next 50 years.”
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Innovation & 
Infrastructure
All Member Co‑ops are unique and 
diverse, each with its own portfolio of 
businesses that provide essential services 
to their community. The Innovation 
and Infrastructure Services Division 
provides the technology infrastructure 
Member Co‑ops need to effectively 
manage their business units. Innovation 
and Infrastructure provides stable 
technology services for the Service 
Federation and works diligently to manage 
any interruptions. Proper planning 
and continuous improvements are also 
important drivers of success when 
implementing technology. To that end, 
facilitation of project management, and 
championing the ongoing focus on driving 
System‑wide efficiency also falls within 
the responsibilities of the Innovation and 
Infrastructure Services Division.

The division projects to leverage its skills and expertise to drive innovation, 
automation, and business intelligence to the forefront of the agenda within 
the Service Federation. The division is at an exciting stage in this journey 
and looks to invest in people and provide them with the necessary tools 
and training to create exciting opportunities in data science and analytics 
within the organization.

2021 Highlights

Shona Suderman 
Vice President



 In addition to a regular supply 
throughout the year, a budding 
relationship with the Kangiqtugaapik 
Food Bank in Clyde River saw the 
community receive over 19 tons of non-
perishable food via sealift.

Business Development and 
Non-Member Business

 Continued administration on behalf 
of Kivalliq Inuit Association for their 
COVID-19 Support Voucher Program.

 Advocated on behalf of Members and 
communities at the House of Commons 
Standing Committee on Indigenous 
and Northern Affairs on the topic of 
food security. 

 Collaborated with internal divisions and 
partners to bring bottled water to Iqaluit, 
NU during their water crisis. 

 Work in partnership with Nunavut Sealink 
and Supply, Qikiqtani Inuit Association, 
Baffinland Iron Mines, Qikiqtaaluk 
Environmental, the Government of 
Nunavut, the City of Iqaluit and Nunavut 
Airport Services Limited to create a 
plastic water bottle recycling program in 
response to the water emergency. 

 Partnered with Nunavut Tunngavik 
Incorporation on a vaccine incentive 
program for voluntary vaccinations for 
children aged 5-11. 

 Participated in lectures, presentations, 
and engaged with a variety of audiences 
to provide education about the Co-op 
business model. 

Marketing and 
Communications

 Incorporated education and community 
focused elements into Co-op general 
merchandise and grocery flyers. 

 Renewed focus on equally representing 
Inuktitut and English in marketing and 
communications collateral.

 Worked with Indigenous and northern 
artists on a variety of projects. 

 Launched a Truth and Reconciliation, 
Orange Shirt Day campaign and 
donated 100% of proceeds to four 
Indigenous charities.

 Employee led publications continued to 
evolve with new ideas and strategies. 

 Continued to extend our social media 
reach across the Service Federation 
and are currently supporting over 30 
Facebook pages, multiple Instagram 
pages, and one LinkedIn page. 

 Provided marketing and social media 
collateral for local Co-op Annual General 
Meetings and grand openings.

 Revamped promotional goods offering 
with a variety of items. 

Member Engagement  
 To educate Members about the Co-op 
model through Member Information Kits. 

 Awarded the first annual Andrew 
Goussaert Memorial Scholarships.

 Continued to enhance the Member 
Engagement brand. 

 Created a means for Member feedback, 
both in-store and virtually. 

Community Support 
 Delivery of Qikiqtani Inuit 
Association Elder’s Support 
Programs, including additional 
support for communities with 
active COVID-19 cases.

 Supported Qikiqtani Inuit 
Association and the Government 
of Nunavut, Department of 
Family Services with income 
support initiatives. 

 Added a local resource in Iqaluit, 
NU in partnership with Nunavut 
Sealink and Supply.

 Rapid response to the Iqaluit 
water crisis providing direct 
support alongside the 
Government of Nunavut, Qikiqtani 
Inuit Association, Baffinland Iron 
Mines, Iqaluit District Education 
Authority, the City of Iqaluit, and 
many other partnerships.  

 The equivalent of over 750,000 
water bottles supplied over eight 
days and over 1.2 million in total

 Collaborated with the Qikiqtani 
and Kitikmeot Inuit Associations 
to help provide hundreds of tons 
of food to communities across 
the Arctic. 
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 Launching the Member Engagement 
Program to include a General Manager 
toolkit, Youth Representative Program, 
and an enhanced Scholarship Program. 

 Process improvements to local 
Annual General Meetings and 
departmental projects. 

 Additional promotional offerings 
throughout the year. 

 Expanding the department with 
marketing support directly focussed 
on the unique needs of the Iqaluit 
Subsidiary businesses.

 Launch of the e‑commerce site. 
 Baffinland perishable food volume 

commencing for 2022 aligning with 
organizational core competencies.

“Working in an organization where the business 
owners and the consumers are the same people 
is one that provides a great deal of satisfaction.  
We aren’t working for anonymous shareholders, 
but for people in the communities of the Arctic, 

many of which we have come to know by name.”
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Helping provide context and an understanding of the complexities and 
opportunities across diverse groups of stakeholders make Business 
Development and Marketing and Communications ideal partners to form 
the Stakeholder Relations Division. Business Development manages and 
facilitates non-member business and leads new Co-op development on 
behalf of the Service Federation while Marketing and Communications is 
responsible for creating a visible brand that reflects the Mission, Vision, and 
Values of the Service Federation in Member Co-op communities and to a 
broader territorial and national audience.

2021 Highlights

Stakeholder 
Relations
The Stakeholder Relations Division 
holds itself responsive to a variety of 
constituents both inside and outside 
of the Service Federation. Responsible 
for generating and administering non‑
member business, the division focuses on 
leveraging and maximizing the expertise 
of the organization with regards to doing 
business in the Arctic. The intent is to 
turn the capacity to serve the Canadian 
Arctic into business for a 
variety of stakeholders outside 
the Service Federation. These 
partnerships help strengthen 
the long‑term bonds between 
the Co‑op System and other 
key contributors to the Arctic 
economy and make 
positive financial 
contribution to 
Member Co‑ops 
and, in turn, their 
local Membership.

Duane Wilson 
Vice President



Corporate and  
Member Accounting

 Continued to provide service to 
Co-ops on numerous pandemic 
support initiatives by providing 
accounting procedures, batch 
loading gift cards, coordinating 
centralized billings to funding 
agencies, and reconciliations of 
each program.

 Worked closely with Operations, 
Risk, and the insurance 
companies to calculate loss 
amounts to be claimed for the 
Igloolik Co‑op fire.

 Conducted a survey with Co-op 
General Managers to seek input 
on the service and support 
provided by accounting staff 
and to identify areas that require 
further training.

 Collaborated to develop four training modules on 
finance topics to be delivered to Co‑op General 
Managers and local Boards of Directors in 2022.

Treasury and Risk & Assurance
 Continued to assist Member Co-ops in reducing 
their local receivables. 

 Meetings with the local Co-op Boards were held 
to discuss the importance of having an active and 
engaged credit committee, to review accounts 
receivables policies, and how the Collection Program 
can assist in collections.

 Collaborated with the Organization Effectiveness 
Department on the Member Database Clean-up 
Project which aims to get up-to-date Member 
information for each Co-op.

 The Risk & Assurance department continued to help 
Member Co-ops with their insurance needs.  

 Significant efforts were made on Igloolik Co‑op’s 
insurance claim.

Legal
 Continued work on updating all parcels of land 

in the Co‑op System.  We have worked on 86% 
(282 lots) of all parcels of land (total of 329) and 
completely updated 50% (or 166 lots).  

	 Completed	all	Federation	purchase,	sale	and	financing	
transactions,	saving	Member	Co‑ops	significant	
external legal expenses.

 Developed a paper Annual General Meeting process 
to	meet	corporate	filing	requirements	during	
COVID‑19 restrictions.

 Worked with the Corporate Secretary and developed 
a simple Governance Assistance Program for 
Member Co‑op Directors to become more effective 
Board Members.

 Extensive work on air carrier contract negotiations in 
collaboration with the Logistics Department.
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“Navigating the past year was not easy and I am 
extremely proud of the hard work and dedicated 
commitment our team members demonstrated 
daily to support the communities we serve. The 
Co‑op System had a successful year in 2021 and 
we should all be proud.”
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Finance
The diverse and community‑focused 
nature of the services that local Member 
Co‑ops offer has created a complex 
business eco‑system across the Service 
Federation. The Finance Division consists 
of five departments which provide high‑
quality essential professional services that 
might otherwise be unavailable locally to 
Member Co‑ops and the wholly‑owned 
subsidiary businesses in Iqaluit, NU. They 
provide informed expertise on matters 
related to finance, accounting, legal, risk & 
assurance and treasury to the entire Co‑op 
System and bring diligence and urgency 
when delivering their services. 

Member Accounting acts as the Controller for Member Co-ops to ensure 
monthly financial statements are completed accurately, completely and 
on a timely basis. Fulfilling this function ensures proper financial systems 
are in place and maintained, and the necessary reporting required to run 
a healthy business is provided. The Corporate Accounting Department 
provides administrative accounting support to Arctic Co-operatives 
Limited and the Subsidiary businesses in Iqaluit. The Legal Group diligently 
protects the rights and interests of each individual local Member Co-op 
and the entire Arctic Co-operatives Limited System. The responsibility for 
overseeing System-wide insurance, risk management, internal audit, and 
loss prevention falls to the Risk & Assurance Department. Finally, Treasury 
oversees banking and cash management, collecting receivables, and the 
administration of the Arctic Co-operative Development Fund.

2021 Highlights

2022
Looking Ahead  
CORPORATE AND  
MEMBER ACCOUNTING

 New General Manager training 
modules to be delivered to Member 
Co‑ops.

 Support the development and 
implementation of the new 
Counterpoint POS system.

TREASURY AND RISK & ASSURANCE

 Activities and travels related to 
internal audit and loss prevention 
will resume in 2022.

 Continued assistance to Member 
Co‑ops in reducing local Accounts 
Receivable.

LEGAL

 Develop records management 
guidelines around retention and 
destruction of records of Arctic 
Co‑ops.

 Implement the Governance 
Assistance Program with 15 
Member Co‑ops.

 Conduct a policy audit for Member 
Co‑ops and Subsidiaries to ensure 
essential policies are in place. 

 Update Privacy Policy for use 
across the Federation.

Glenn Williams 
Chief Financial Officer



The Fund continues to provide 
working capital for annual 
purchases through the Resupply 
Program. In 2021, $25.84 million of 
financing was provided through the 
program allowing Member Co-ops 
to take advantage of System-wide 
volume discounts and order the 
right inventory to meet the unique 
needs of each individual community 
at competitive prices. A significant 
number of the products available 
on Co-op shelves are purchased 
during our annual Trade Show, 
making the Resupply Program an 
essential part of meeting the needs 
of Member-Owners.

The Fund is also increasingly 
proactive with helping Member 
Co‑ops refinance their debt. It is 
committed to helping the individual 
Co‑ops who require debt financing 
with as much flexibility as possible 
before distress becomes an issue. 
The Fund proactively monitors the 
financial health of Member Co‑ops 
so it can offer the most favorable 
refinancing options for their 
business when required.

The Fund emphasizes finding 
financial solutions that truly 
embrace co-operative principles. It’s 
necessary for the Arctic Co-operative 
Development Fund to work with 
Member Co‑ops to find solutions 
that maintain the strength and 
well-being of the entire Federation 

while preserving local autonomy and 
independence. In 2021, the Arctic 
Co-operative Development Fund 
carried on this important work and 
continued to provide refinancing 
options that allowed Member Co-ops 
to maintain the long‑term financial 
viability of their business. The unique 
relationship between The Fund and 
the Member Co-ops contributes 
to unity and strength across the 
Federation that traditional financing 
could never provide. The Arctic 
Co-operative Development Fund is 
committed to advancing financial 
stability, sound business practices, 
and operational growth by providing 
financial support to its Members.
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Arctic  
Co-operative 
Development 
Fund
The Arctic Co‑operative Development Fund 
has been actively working alongside Member 
Co‑ops to help find favorable financing 
solutions for over 35 years. In 2021, 
the fund has provided $33.11 million of 
financing to Member Co‑ops, allowing for 
significant local re‑investment across the 
Canadian Arctic. While the access to capital 
for Member Co‑ops has been a critical 
part of fulfilling the Service Federation’s 
Mission, Vision, and Values within the 
communities we serve, just as important 
is the fund’s commitment to returning the 
interest paid back to the communities. 
The Fund has returned 60% of the interest 
that it’s earned back to Member Co‑ops in 
the form of patronage dividends. Traditional 
lending facilities in the south of Canada 
would have permanently removed that 
money from the Arctic economy. The Fund 
remains committed to ensuring as much 
loan interest as possible remains in the 
communities we serve and support.

Glenn Williams 
Chief Financial Officer

f Since 1986, ACDF 
has redistributed 57.3% 
of the interest back to 
Member Co‑ops in the 
form of a patronage 
dividend. Traditional 
banks don’t do this.

e Member Co‑ops use this 
incremental revenue to pay ACDF the 
principal amount with interest like they 
would with a traditional bank.

d The new business units generate more 
revenue which goes back to the Member Co‑op.

c Co‑ops use the 
money from ACDF to 
invest in new business 
units for their 
community.

b ACDF 
lends money to 
Member Co‑ops 
to help finance 
their capital 
requirements.
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b  Lauren Venchiarutti
 Sales & Marketing Coordinator 

Canadian Arctic Producers
 Celebrating 35 Years

c  RJ Ramrattan
 General Manager
 Canadian Arctic Producers 
 Celebrating 32 Years

d  Glenn Woodford
 Assistant General Manager
 Kissarvik Co‑op
 Celebrating 23 Years

e  Darlene Dominique
 Mail Clerk
 Celebrating 22 Years

f  Walter Morey
 General Manager 

Kissarvik Co‑op
 Celebrating 20 Years

g  Sherry Smadella
 Training Coordinator
 Celebrating 18 Years 

b

e

h
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f

i

1!

1$

d

g

j

1@

1%

h  Michelle Klassen
 Manager, Human Resources
 Celebrating 13 Years

i  Stephane Daigle
 General Manager,  

Arctic Ventures Marketplace
 Celebrating 15 Years

j  Troy Leblanc
 Assistant Manager 

Arctic Ventures Marketplace
 Celebrating 15 Years

1)  Louise England
 General Manager
 Tununiq Sauniq Co-op
 Celebrating 14 Years

1!  Scott Gordon
 Senior Treasury Clerk
 Celebrating 10 Years

1@  Rhea Bartsch
 Communications Coordinator
 Celebrating 10 Years

1#  David Bond
 Hotel Manager & Chef
 Turaarvik Inns North
 Celebrating 10 Years

1$  Robin Buchanan
 Procurement Manager
 Celebrating 5 Years

1%  Adham Adose
 General Manager 

Sanavik Co-op
 Celebrating 5 Years

Class of 2021
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2021 Year in Review: 
Executive Summary

Message from the CEO
 2021 will be remembered as a year of 
progress and growth in the history of the 
Service Federation.

 2021 proved that we had done more than 
just adapt to the current environment, we 
had collectively evolved with purpose, into 
something stronger than before.

 Our Strategic Plan is guided by our Vision, 
Mission and Values for the purpose of 
achieving a cycle of success which promotes 
the advancement of our pursuit of improving 
the social and economic well-being of the 
communities we serve and support. 

 Throughout the year, a balance of maintaining 
safety and support was achieved for all 
System employees.

 We made significant strides to retain 
influence and control over our critical 
supply chain through the expansion of our 
airline relationships. 

Corporate  
Services

 While Delegates prefer 
the opportunity to 
meet face-to-face, they 
successfully embraced the use of an online platform. 

 Increased participation from Member Co-op Directors in 
virtual district conference calls.

 A Community Hunter Sponsorship Program was 
developed to assist hunters in the Arctic to carry out 
a community harvest hunt three seasons of the year. 
A System‑wide launch is planned for January 2022.  

 A partnership with Second Harvest was formed, 
resulting in 61,700 pounds of food delivered directly to 
community members.  

 Worked with the Construction and Maintenance 
Department to create a safe space for employees to return 
to after an extended work from home model. 

 Organized and facilitated district conference calls that 
resulted in increased participation and engagement. 

Human Resources
 Created the next Board of Director approved 
three‑year strategy.  

 The 2021 strategic plan is coming was successfully 
executed and completed. 

 Nine in-person training courses required to run Member 
Co-op business units were delivered across the Arctic, one 
of which was delivered in Inuktitut.

 Over $1,000,000 was received through successful 
wage subsidy applications with funds going directly to 
Subsidiaries and Member Co-ops. 

 Sourced and attended six virtual job fairs, each resulting in 
attracting successful candidates.

50 Years, Stronger Together

Operations 
 Collective net savings $30M, up by $10M compared 
to 2020. 

 Igloolik Co-op in Igloolik, NU suffered a devastating 
fire that consumed their retail store. The Emergency 
Response Team was able to quickly mobilize and ensure 
the basic needs of the community were met.  

 Member Co-ops continued to make capital investments, 
spending more than $13.6M on upgrades and renovations 
to their current facilities. 

 In trying to deliver a comparable cable experience to 
what cable subscribers receive in the south, the ongoing 
refinement of the cable program has resulted in a 9% 
increase in cable revenues compared to last year for 
the federation.  

 The Arctic Co-ops wholesale art marketing arm, Canadian 
Arctic Producers, continues to support their mandate 
to promote, protect and preserve Inuit and Dene art by 
purchasing $552K from Member Artists in the Arctic. 
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Innovation and 
Infrastructure Services

 Continued progress with our cyber security improvements 
to ensure Member Co-op operations and data 
remain safeguarded.

 Upgraded the key system used by all Co-ops for their 
Accounts Payable and Accounts Receivable processes. 
The upgrade will help mitigate risk and ensure time 
sensitive financial reports are delivered to the Co‑ops.

 Provisioned faster, more reliable Internet for our 
Member Co‑ops.

 Made great progress in our Member Co-op Ordering 
System Rollout (CounterPoint), with majority onboarded 
by the end of November and remaining to be complete in 
the first quarter of 2022.

Merchandising and Logistics 
 Purchases were up by over $2,000,000 from the last 
in-person trade show. 

 Developed and implemented a ticketing system to track 
all the concurrent optimizations the department was 
managing thoroughly and effectively.

 The Procurement Department delivered a product 
offering to Members to ensure supply chain challenges 
that the world wrestled with in 2021 did not impact them 
as severely.

 In partnership with Second Harvest, we shipped more 
than 30 tons of food, to food banks in the Arctic. 

 Successfully renegotiated contracts with four major 
airlines that fly product to Member Co‑ops for 2022.

 Built a transactional e-commerce platform offering a 
wider assortment of products.

 A percentage of the profit from e‑commerce transactions 
will go to the Co-op the order is shipped to, sales will also 
contribute to Member purchases. 

Arctic Co-operative 
Development Fund

 The Fund has returned 60% of the interest that 
it’s earned back to Member Co-ops in the form of 
patronage dividends.

 In 2021, $33.11 million of financing 
was provided through the 
program allowing Member 
Co-ops to take advantage of 
System-wide volume discounts 
and order the right inventory 
to meet the unique needs of 
each individual community at 
competitive prices.

Finance 
 Collaborated to develop four training modules on finance 
topics to be delivered to Co-op General Managers and 
local Boards of Directors in 2022.

 Continued to assist Member Co-ops in reducing their 
local receivables. 

 Developed a paper Annual General Meeting process 
to meet corporate filing requirements during 
COVID‑19 restrictions.

Stakeholder Relations 
 Rapid response to the Iqaluit water crisis providing 
direct support alongside the Government of Nunavut, 
Qikiqtani Inuit Association, Baffinland Iron Mines, Iqaluit 
District Education Authority, the City of Iqaluit, and many 
other partnerships.  

 Advocated on behalf of Members and communities at the 
House of Commons Standing Committee on Indigenous 
and Northern Affairs on the topic of food security. 

 Participated in lectures, presentations, and engaged with 
a variety of audiences to provide education about the 
Co-op business model. 

 Incorporated education and community focused 
elements into Co-op general merchandise and 
grocery flyers. 

 Renewed focus on equally representing Inuktitut and 
English in marketing and communications collateral.

 Launched a Truth and Reconciliation, Orange Shirt 
Day campaign and donated 100% of proceeds to four 
Indigenous charities.

 Awarded the first annual Andrew Goussaert 
Memorial Scholarships.

Co‑op: For the People, By the People
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GRISE FIORD, NU

RESOLUTE BAY, NU

POND INLET, NU
ARCTIC BAY, NU

IGLOOLIK, NU

SANIRAJAK, NU

NAUJAAT, NU
IQALUIT, NU

KIMMIRUT, NU
KINNGAIT, NU

CORAL HARBOUR, NU

CHESTERFIELD INLET, NU

RANKIN INLET, NU

WHALE COVE, NU

ARVIAT, NU

BAKER LAKE, NU

SANIKILUAQ, NU

PANGNIRTUNG, NU

QIKIQTARJUAQ, NU

KUGAARUK, NU
GJOA HAVEN, NU

TALOYOAK, NU
CAMBRIDGE BAY, NU

KUGLUKTUK, NU

COLVILLE LAKE, NT

ULUKHAKTOK, NT

FORT MCPHERSON, NT

OLD CROW, YT

SACHS HARBOUR, NT

FORT GOOD HOPE, NT

DELINE, NT

YELLOWKNIFE, NT

13

27

1
24

15

14

21

5

16

17
8

6

26

32

2

3

29

23

25

18
12

30
4

19

7

31

11

22

28

10

9

33

20 LUTSEL K’E, NT

1. ARCTIC BAY, NU
      A. TAQQUT CO-OP

2. ARVIAT, NU
      A. PADLEI CO-OP
      B. PADLEI INNS NORTH

3. BAKER LAKE, NU
      A. SANAVIK CO-OP
      B. IGLU HOTEL

4. CAMBRIDGE BAY, NU
      A. IKALUKTUTIAK CO-OP
      B. ARCTIC ISLANDS LODGE

5. KINNGAIT, NU
      A. WEST BAFFIN ESKIMO CO-OP

6. CHESTERFIELD INLET, NU
      A. PITSIULAK CO-OP
      B. TANGMAVIK HOTEL

7. COLVILLE LAKE, NT
      A. KAPAMI CO-OP

8. CORAL HARBOUR, NU
      A. KATUDGEVIK CO-OP
      B. KATUDGEVIK HOTEL INNS
           NORTH

9. DELINE, NT
      A. GREAT BEAR CO-OP

10. FORT GOOD HOPE, NT
      A. FORT GOOD HOPE CO-OP

11. FORT MCPHERSON, NT
      A. TETLIT SERVICE CO-OP
      B. PEEL RIVER INNS NORTH

12. GJOA HAVEN, NU
      A. QIKIQTAQ CO-OP
      B. AMUNDSEN HOTEL

13. GRISE FIORD, NU
      A. GRISE FIORD INUIT CO-OP

14. SANIRAJAK, NU
      A. HALL BEACH ESKIMO CO-OP
      B. HALL BEACH INNS NORTH

15. IGLOOLIK, NU
      A. IGLOOLIK CO-OP
      B. IGLOOLIK INNS NORTH HOTEL

16. IQALUIT, NU
      A. IQALUIT GAS BAR
      B. ARCTIC CO-OPS LIMITED
          NUNAVUT REGIONAL OFFICE
      C. ARCTIC VENTURES
          MARKETPLACE
      D. SIKITU SALES AND SERVICE
      E. TITTAQ OFFICE PRODUCTS

17. KIMMIRUT, NU
      A. KIMIK CO-OP

18. KUGAARUK, NU
      A. KOOMIUT CO-OP

19. KUGLUKTUK, NU
      A. KUGLUKTUK CO-OP

20. LUTSEL K’E, NT
      A. LUTSEL K’E CO-OP

21. NAUJAAT, NU
      A. NAUJAT CO-OP
      B. NAUJAT HOTEL

22. OLD CROW, YT
      A. OLD CROW RETAIL CO-OP

23. PANGNIRTUNG, NU
      A. PANGNIRTUNG ESKIMO
           CO-OP
      B.  AUYUITTUQ LODGE

24. POND INLET, NU
      A. TUNUNIQ SAUNIQ CO-OP
      B. SAUNIQ HOTEL

25. QIKIQTARJUAQ, NU
      A. TULUGAK CO-OP SOCIETY
      B. TULUGAK CO-OP HOTEL

26. RANKIN INLET, NU
      A. KISSARVIK CO-OP
      B. TURAARVIK INNS NORTH
      C. SINIKTARVIK HOTEL

27. RESOLUTE BAY, NU
      A. TUDJAAT CO-OP
      B. QUASUITTUG INNS NORTH
           HOTEL

28. SACHS HARBOUR, NT
      A. IKAHUK CO-OP

29. SANIKILUAQ, NU
      A. MITIQ CO-OP
      B. AMAULIK MOTEL INNS
           NORTH

30. TALOYOAK, NU
      A. PALEAJOOK ESKIMO
           CO-OP

31. ULUKHAKTOK, NT
      A. HOLMAN ESKIMO CO-OP
      B. ARCTIC CHAR INN

32. WHALE COVE, NU
      A. ISSATIK CO-OP LTD.

33. YELLOWKNIFE, NT
      A. YELLOWKNIFE D.C. CO-OP

NOT PICTURED ON MAP:

1. ARCTIC CO-OPERATIVES
   HOME OFFICE
   (WINNIPEG, MB)

2. CANADIAN ARCTIC
    PRODUCERS
    (MISSISSAUGA, ON)

3. NORTHERN IMAGES
    (YELLOWKNIFE, NT)

Co-op Network

The Arctic Co-operative Development Fund
supports the development of co-op

businesses in 33 communities.

Co-op System

2021 ANNUAL REPORT Arctic Co‑operatives Limited / Arctic Co‑operative Development Fund
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To the Members of Arctic Co‑operatives Limited:

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements 
of Arctic Co-operatives Limited and its subsidiaries (the 
“Co-operative’), which comprise the consolidated balance 
sheet as at December 31, 2021, and the consolidated 
statements of savings, retained savings, reserve, cash flows 
and the related schedules for the year then ended, and 
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Co‑operative as 
at December 31, 2021, and the results of its consolidated 
operations and its consolidated cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards 
for private enterprises.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Co-operative in accordance with the ethical requirements 
that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT FOR THE  
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for private 
enterprises, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
management is responsible for assessing the Co-operative’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless management 
either intends to liquidate the Co-operative or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Co‑operative’s financial reporting process. 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE  
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, 
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 

expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for 
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 
override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Co-operative’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Co‑operative’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 

that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, 
future events or conditions may cause the Co-operative 
to cease to continue as a going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Co-operative to express an 
opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Co-operative to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the 
direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

 

Winnipeg, Manitoba  

February 24, 2022 Chartered Professional Accountants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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  2021 2020

Assets 
Current assets
 Cash 24,955,639 32,509,177
 Accounts receivable (Note 3) 32,860,435 23,644,095
 Income taxes recoverable 456,981 —
 Inventory (Note 4) 8,475,988 9,629,121
 Prepaid expenses and other assets 334,332 465,937

  67,083,375 66,248,330

Investments (Note 5) 44,024,315 38,281,972

Property and equipment (Note 6) 14,803,881 16,263,559

Intangible assets (Note 7) 1,532,999 1,898,650

Goodwill (Note 8) — 828,750

Future income taxes (Note 9) 3,084,000 3,161,200

  130,528,570 126,682,461
Liabilities
Current liabilities
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 10) 13,298,713 16,919,667
 Income taxes payable — 209,190
 Member deposits and other reserves (Note 11) 37,474,541 31,061,507
 Current portion of long-term debt (Note 12) — 250,000

  50,773,254 48,440,364

Long‑term debt (Note 12) 40,000 2,009,167

  50,813,254 50,449,531

  2021 2020

Commitments (Note 15)

Guarantees (Note 11)

Members’ Equity
Share capital (Note 13) 45,080,318 44,695,929

Retained savings 21,054,056 18,356,553

Reserve (Note 14) 13,400,000 13,000,000

Non‑controlling interest in subsidiaries 180,942 180,448

  79,715,316 76,232,930

  130,528,570 126,682,461

Approved by the Board of Directors

Director Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
As at December 31, 2021

4948
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SAVINGS
For the year ended December 31, 2021

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF RETAINED SAVINGS
For the year ended December 31, 2021

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF RESERVE
For the year ended December 31, 2021

  2021  2020

Sales (Note 17)  299,574,705 265,433,690

Cost of products sold  262,854,631 230,899,725

  36,720,074 34,533,965
Operating and administration expenses (Schedule 1)  28,854,709 22,294,217

  7,865,365 12,239,748
Amortization  2,098,350 2,128,331

  5,767,015 10,111,417
Other income (Schedule 2)  7,879,838 2,314,899

Net savings before income taxes  13,646,853 12,426,316

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes
 Current  472,150 988,000
 Future  77,200 (997,000)

  549,350 (9,000)

Net savings  13,097,503 12,435,316

Distribution of net savings
 Patronage allocation (Note 13)  10,000,000 10,800,000
 Balance of net savings transferred to retained savings  3,097,503 1,635,316

Net savings  13,097,503 12,435,316

  2021 2020

Retained savings, beginning of year 18,356,553  17,521,237

Transfer from net savings for the year 3,097,503 1,635,316

Transfer to reserve (Note 13) (400,000) (800,000)

Retained savings, end of year 21,054,056 18,356,553

  2021  2020

Reserve, beginning of year 13,000,000 12,200,000

Transfer from retained savings (Note 13) 400,000  800,000

Reserve, end of year 13,400,000  13,000,000

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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  2021  2020

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities
Operating activities
 Net savings  13,097,503 12,435,316
 Amortization of property and equipment 1,732,698 1,762,679
 Amortization of intangible assets  365,651 365,652
 Future income taxes 77,200 (997,000)
 Income from equity investments (932,956) (1,105,144)
 Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries 494 184
 Non-cash increase in investments (2,841,208) (1,778,474))
 Gain on sale of property and equipment (175,032) — 
 Loan guarantee provision (410,112) (336,556) 
 Forgivable portion of the Canada Emergency Business Account (10,000) (10,000)
 Goodwill impairment  828,750 3,900,000

  11,732,988 14,236,657
 Changes in working capital accounts

 Accounts receivable  (9,216,337) 6,763,460
 Income taxes recoverable/payable  (666,171) 437,111
 Inventory  1,153,133 521,596
 Prepaid expenses and other assets  131,605 719,879
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (3,620,954) 3,970,383

  (485,736) 26,649,086

  2021  2020

Financing activities
 Receipt of Canada Emergency Business Account loan proceeds 20,000 40,000
 Repayments of long-term debt (2,229,167) (250,000)
 Member deposits and other reserves 6,823,146 (277,329)
 Share capital redemptions (9,615,611) (7,879,520)

  (5,001,632) (8,366,849)

Investing activities
 Purchases of property and equipment  (862,321) (656,692)
 Proceeds on disposal of property and equipment  764,332 —
 Purchase of investments (5,874,552) (2,574,745)
 Proceeds on redemption of investments  3,006,371 2,458,702
 Dividends received from equity investments  900,000 1,031,250

  (2,066,170) 258,515

Increase (decrease) in cash resources  (7,553,538) 18,540,752

Cash resources, beginning of year  32,509,177 13,968,425

Cash resources, end of year  24,955,639 32,509,177

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended December 31, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2021

1. Basis of reporting

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts 
of Arctic Co-operatives Limited and its wholly owned 
subsidiaries, 4624 Nunavut Ltd., Eastern Arctic T.V. Limited, 
Sikitu Sales & Service Ltd., 8291292 Canada Ltd. and 5062 
Nunavut Ltd. of which the Co-operative owns 76%. Subsequent 
to year end on January 1, 2022, Sikitu Sales & Service Ltd. and 
829129 Canada Ltd. amalgamated. Subsidiaries are those 
entities which the Co-operative controls by having the power 
to govern the financial and operating policies. Subsidiaries are 
fully consolidated from the date on which control is obtained 
and are de-consolidated from the date that the control ceases. 
Intercompany transactions, balances, income and expenses, 
and profits and losses are eliminated.

2. Significant accounting policies

The consolidated financial statements of Arctic Co‑operatives 
Limited (the Co-operative) are prepared in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises (ASPE) 
and include the following significant accounting policies:

Inventory

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 
Costs include the purchase cost and transportation expenses 
incurred to bring inventories to their present location.

Investments 

The equity method is a basis of accounting for investments 
whereby the investment is initially recorded at cost and the 
carrying value, adjusted thereafter to included the investor’s pro 
rata share of post-acquisition earnings of the investee. The amount 
of the adjustment is included in the determination of net income 
by the investor, and the investment account of the investor is also 
increased or decreased to reflect the investor’s share of capital 
transactions. Profit distributions received or receivable from an 
investee reduce the carrying value of the investment.

Equity method investments include ARDICOM Digital 
Communications Inc. (33.33%) and Nunavut Sealink and Supply 

Inc. (37.5%). The Co‑operative is able to exercise significant 
influence over these investments and they are accounted for by 
the equity method.

The cost method is a basis of accounting for investments 
whereby the investment is initially recorded at cost and earnings 
from such investments are recognized only to the extent 
received or receivable.

The Co-operative’s portfolio investments, consisting of shares of 
non-publicly traded companies whereby the Co-operative is not 
able to exercise significant influence over these investments are 
accounted for by the cost method, including the Co¬operative’s 
investment in Arctic Co-operative Development Fund (ACDF), a 
company related by virtue of common control.

When there is an indication of impairment, the Co-operative 
determines whether a significant adverse change has occurred 
during the period in the expected timing or amount of future 
cash flows from the investment. If the Co‑operative identifies 
a significant adverse change the carrying amount of the 
investment is reduced directly to the higher of the present 
value of the cash flows expected to be generated by holding the 
investment, and the amount that could be realized by selling the 
asset at the balance sheet date. The amount of the reduction 
is recognized as an impairment loss in net savings. A previously 
recognized impairment loss may be reversed to the extent of 
improvement, provided the adjustment carrying amount of the 
investment is no greater than the amount that would have been 
reported at the date of the reversal had the impairment not been 
recognized previously. The amount of the reversal is recognized 
in net savings in the year the reversal occurs.
 
Property and equipment

Property and equipment are initially recorded at cost.

Assets under construction are not amortized until in use. 
Government assistance received towards the purchase of 
property and equipment is amortized on the same basis as the 
related assets.

Amortization is provided using the following methods at rates 
intended to amortize the cost of assets over their estimated 
useful lives.

 Method Rate

Buildings declining balance 4-10 % 

Furniture, fixtures  
and equipment declining balance 12-20 %

Leasehold improvements over term of lease —

Computer equipment declining balance 30 %   

Computer equipment straight-line 20 %

Containers declining balance 12-20 % 

Vehicles declining balance 30 %

Intangible assets

Intangible assets are recorded at cost. Government assistance 
received towards the purchase of intangible assets is amortized 
on the same basis as the related asset.

Amortization is provided using the straight-line method at rates 
intended to amortize the cost of assets over their estimated
useful lives.

  Rate

Leasehold land interest 27-60 years 
Customer relationships 4 years     

Brand name is not amortized as it has an indefinite useful life.  

Goodwill

Goodwill is an asset representing the future economic benefits 
arising from other assets acquired in a business combination 
that are not individually identified and separately recognized. 
Goodwill is assigned to reporting units as of the date 
of acquisition.

Goodwill is not amortized. Goodwill is tested for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of the reporting unit to which 
the goodwill is assigned may exceed the fair value of the 
reporting unit. When the carrying amount of a reporting unit, 
including goodwill, exceeds its fair value, an impairment loss is 
recognized in an amount equal to the excess. The impairment 
loss, however, cannot exceed the carrying amount of goodwill.

Impairment of long-lived assets

An impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount 
of a long-lived asset is not recoverable and exceeds its fair 
value; it is measured as the amount by which the carrying 
amount of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value. The carrying 
amount of a long-lived asset is not recoverable if the carrying 
amount exceeds the sum of the undiscounted cash flows 
expected to result from its use and eventual disposition. 
A long‑lived asset is tested for recoverability whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that its carrying amount 
may not be recoverable.
 
Income taxes

The Co-operative accounts for income taxes using the future 
income taxes method. Under this method, future income 
tax assets and liabilities are recorded based on temporary 
differences between the carrying amount of balance sheet 
items and their corresponding tax bases. In addition, the 
future benefits of income tax assets, including unused tax 
losses, are recognized, subject to a valuation allowance, to the 
extent that it is more likely than not that such future benefits 
will ultimately be realized. Future income tax assets and 
liabilities are measured using substantively enacted tax rates 
and laws expected to apply when the tax liabilities or assets 
are to be either settled or realized.

Income taxes for the current year are calculated after providing 
for patronage refunds of $10,000,000 (2020 – $10,800,000),
which the Co-operative is proposing to distribute out of 
current year’s savings and retained net savings, and which 
are deductible for tax purposes.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Member deposits and other reserves

Member deposits are amounts received from member 
co-operatives which are held by the Co-operative for future 
programs and to enhance further cable system development. 
These deposits are interest bearing and due on demand. This 
balance also includes a reserve for the obligation resulting 
from the guarantee of member co-operatives’ loan (Note 12).

Revenue recognition

Sales revenue earned on member purchases is recorded at the 
time the Co-operative receives the invoices from the vendor as 
sales generally represent items purchased for direct shipment 
to member co-operatives. Sales revenue earned on services, 
including those related to the hotel, provided to members and 
non-members is recorded when the services are rendered and 
the amounts are fixed or can be determined and the ability to 
collect is reasonably assured.

Other income, dividends from portfolio investments and 
interest income are recognized as revenue when received 
or receivable.

Measurement uncertainty (use of estimates)

The preparation of financial statements requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 
and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during 
the reporting period.

Accounts receivable are stated after evaluation as to their 
collectability and an appropriate allowance for doubtful 
accounts is provided where considered necessary. 
Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of property 
and equipment and intangible assets. Management has 
estimated the value of inventory based upon the lower of 
cost or their assessment of the realizable amount less selling 
costs. The Co-operative periodically assess its liabilities and 
contingencies related to income taxes for all years open to 
audit based on the latest information available. For matters 

where it is probable that an adjustment will be made, 
the Co‑operative records its best estimate of the tax liability 
including the related interest and penalties in the current tax 
provision. Management believes that they have adequately 
provided for the probable outcome of these matters; however, 
the final outcome may result in a materially different outcome 
than the amount included in the tax liabilities.

The financial statements include a provision for the loans 
guaranteed as disclosed in Note 12. The provision is based on 
management’s understanding of the financial condition of the 
applicable member co-operatives and discussions with the 
related lenders.

The uncertainties around the outbreak of the COVID-19 
pandemic required the use of judgments and estimates 
which resulted in no material impact for the year ended 
December 31, 2021. The future impact of COVID‑19 
uncertainties could generate, in future reporting periods, 
a significant risk of material adjustment to the reported 
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses in the 
financial statements.

These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically 
and, as adjustments become necessary they are reported in 
earnings in the years in which they become known.
 
Financial instruments

a) Measurement of financial instruments

The Co‑operative initially measures its financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value. The Co‑operative subsequently 
measures all its financial assets and financial liabilities at 
amortized cost.

Financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost include 
cash, accounts receivable and portfolio investments. 

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost include 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities and member deposits.

b) Impairment

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are tested for 
impairment when there are indicators of possible impairment. 
When a significant adverse change has occurred during the 
year in the expected timing or amount of future cash flows 
from the financial asset or group of assets, a write‑down is 
recognized in net income. When events occurring after the 
impairment confirm that a reversal is necessary, the reversal is 
recognized in net savings up to the amount of the previously 
recognized impairment.

Government assistance

Claims for assistance under various government programs are 
recorded as income in the period in which there is reasonable 
assurance that it will comply with the conditions required and 
that the assistance will be received.

3. Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded net of an allowance for 
doubtful accounts as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

  2021  2020

Members’ accounts 16,240,248 11,245,932
Allowance for doubtful accounts (1,760,487) (729,866)

  14,479,761 10,516,066

Non-members’ accounts (Note 16)  18,879,408 13,815,940
Allowance for doubtful accounts  (498,734) (687,911)

  18,380,674 13,128,029

  32,860,435 23,644,095
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4. Inventory

   2021  2020

Retail operations  4,937,700 5,716,046
Canadian Arctic Producers division  2,399,475 1,984,031
Northern Images operations  — 729,270
Merchandising operations  729,598 673,231
Cable operations 101,620 469,469
Hotel supplies 307,595 57,074

  8,475,988 9,629,121

Inventories are written down to estimated net realizable value when the cost of inventories is estimated to be greater than the 
anticipated selling price. In the current year, inventories were written down by $392,005 (2020 – $430,548).

The amount of inventories recognized as an expense within cost of product sold is $20,250,971 (2020 – $25,581,635). The balances of cost 
of product sold represents items purchased for direct shipment to member co-operatives.

5. Investments

Investments include:
   2021  2020

Fixed Income
Bank of Nova Scotia – Guaranteed Investment Certificate, bears interest at  
0.43% - 1.37%, matures May 2022-2026 (Note 12) 9,600,000 10,000,000

Equity investments
Nunavut Sealink and Supply Inc.  2,749,760 2,716,804
ARDICOM Digital Communications Inc.  100 100

  2,749,860 2,716,904

Portfolio investments – at cost
Federated Co-operatives Limited – common shares 9,428,135 8,770,747
The Co-operators Group Limited – Class D preferred shares 14,972,070 10,845,800
Arctic Co-operative Development Fund – common shares  (Note 16) 2,553,738 2,952,295
First Nations Bank of Canada – common shares 1,279,393 1,268,822
9266-4325 Quebéc Inc. – common shares 1,153,149 500,000
Chrono Aviation Inc. – common shares 1,153,149 500,000
Services Aériens Lux Inc. – common shares 413,295 250,000
9351-7399 Québec Inc. – common shares.  413,295 250,000
Chrono Aviation Cargo Inc. – common shares  25 —
Guild Stationers – common shares 122,064 146,058
Canada Co-operative Investment Fund – common shares 186,117 81,321
Linux Canada – common shares 25 25

  31,674,455 25,565,068

  44,024,315 38,281,972

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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6.  Property and equipment
     2021  2020

   Accumulated  Net book  Net book
  Cost  amortization  value  value

Land  473,052 — 473,052 836,756
Buildings  18,201,387 7,426,388 10,774,999 11,553,599
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 9,237,929 7,294,083 1,943,846 2,380,021
Leasehold improvements  313,238 313,238 — —
Computer equipment  7,480,524 6,274,680 1,205,844 985,347
Containers 1,903,640 1,585,746 317,894 377,816
Vehicles  414,332 326,086 88,246 130,020

  38,024,102 23,220,221 14,803,881 16,263,559

7.  Intangible assets
     2021  2020

   Accumulated  Net book  Net book
  Cost  amortization  value  value

Leasehold land interest  69,870 34,935 34,935 37,522
Brand name  1,135,000 — 1,135,000 1,135,000
Customer relationships  3,139,000 2,775,936 363,064 726,128

  4,343,870 2,810,871 1,532,999 1,898,650

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

8. Impairment of Goodwill  

Goodwill is not amortized but is tested for impairment at 
the reporting unit level, whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the reporting 
unit to which the goodwill is assigned may exceed the fair 
value of the reporting unit. During the year, due to cumulative 
declining annual revenues as a result of a continuous 
reduction to the Company’s annual subscriber base and 
economic pressure due to the Federal Governments pledge 
to connect the North with lower cost high speed Internet, it 
was determined that impairment indicators existed and an 
impairment assessment was required to assess goodwill as 
at December 31, 2021. To assess for impairment, the carrying 
value of the goodwill was compared to its fair value.

As a result of the assessment, the Co-operative recorded 
goodwill impairment of $828,750 (2020 – $3,900,000) for the 
year ended December 31, 2021 in other income.
 

9. Future income tax

The tax effect of temporary differences which give rise to the 
future income taxes is from differences between accounts 
deducted for accounting and income tax purposes for the 
below items.

  2021  2020

Future income tax asset   
Allowance for bank guarantees 2,007,000 2,114,000
Property and equipment 321,000 155,200
Intanglibles  1,008,000 973,000
Non-capital loss carryforward — 162,000

  3,336,000 3,404,200

Future income tax liability   
Property and equipment (218,000) (205,000)
Intangibles (34,000) (38,000)

  (252,000) (243,000)

  3,084,000 3,161,200
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10. Government remittances payable

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities are total 
government remittances of $119,154 (2020 – $72,923).

11. Guarantees

The Co‑operative and its affiliate, ACDF, have entered into 
arrangements to guarantee certain loan obligations of three 
of its member co-operatives. The loans are obligations of 
the member co-operatives and provide for advances to 
the members up to $6,650,000, $7,000,000 and $5,900,000 
respectively. The first member’s loan bears interest at 2.00% 
and is repayable by the member in monthly principal of 
$20,834. The second member’s loan bears interest at 1.40% 
and is repayable by the member in monthly principal of 
$23,333. The third member’s loan bears interest at 3.18% 
and is repayable by the member in principal of $19,923. On 
December 31, 2021 the loans have been fully drawn upon by 
the respective members.

The Co-operative and ACDF have pledged amounts currently 
on deposit with the lender as security for the guarantees. The 
Co‑operative has also indemnified ACDF against any amounts 
it might be called upon to guarantee. The loans require the 
members, the Co-operative and ACDF to maintain certain 
debt and interest coverage ratios. On December 31, 2021, 
the members, the Co‑operative and ACDF are in compliance 
with these covenants. While the loans are obligations of the 
members, at December 31, 2021, the Co-operative maintains a 
reserve for the potential risk associated with the guarantees of 
$7,679,694 (2020 – $8,089,806). This reserve is included within 
member deposits and other reserves on the balance sheet.

12. Long‑term debt

2021 2020

During the year the term loan was 
repaid which was a non-revolving 
term loan, maturing 
December 31, 2030 with a one-
year renewal of terms, repayable in 
monthly installments of
$20,833 plus interest at a rate of 
bank prime plus 0.90%

— 2,229,167

Canada Emergency Business 
Account (CEBA) loan from the 
Government of Canada in the 
amount of $60,000, bearing no 
interest and for which $20,000 is 
forgivable if the loan is repaid in full 
prior to the December 31, 2022. If the 
loan is not repaid by December 31, 
2023, it will be extended for an 
additional 3 year term bearing an 
interest rate of 5% per annum. The 
loan can be repaid at any time 
without penalty and no principal 
payments are required until 
December 31, 2025 when the full 
amount of the loan is due. Monthly 
interest must be paid during the 
additional 3 year term. The $10,000 
forgivable portion has been
included in other income.

40,000 30,000

40,000 2,259,167

Less: current portion of  
long-term debt

— 250,000

40,000 2,009,167

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

13. Share capital

Changes during the year in issued common shares were 
as follows:

The shares are issued and redeemed at $1 each.

Share capital redemptions of $31,933 (2020 – $2,208,611) were used 
to repay members’ accounts receivable of the same amount.

14. Reserve

In accordance with Section 30 of the Consolidation of 
Co-operative Associations Act of the Northwest Territories, 
the Co¬operative must designate a reserve amount equal to 
$35,000 plus 10% of the value of the assets in excess of $150,000. 
As at December 31, 2021, the Co-operative has exceeded the 
required amount. During the year, the Co-operative transferred 
$400,000 (2020 – $800,000) to its reserve.

15. Commitments   

The Co-operative has an operating lease commitment for premises 
requiring approximate annual rental payments as follows:

 2022 556,676

 2023 305,124

 2024 66,792

 2025 68,213

 2026 69,160

 2027, thereafter 141,636

 
16. Related party balances and transactions

a) Included in the non-members’ accounts receivable balance 
is $1,541,897 (2020 – $1,266,447) due from related parties.

b) Expenses of $1,040,226 (2020 – $868,936) for Board of 
Directors, communication, management advisory and 
education, meetings and travel, member and public 
relations, office, professional services and wages and 
benefits were allocated to and received from ACDF for 
shared operating expenses.

c) Other income includes fees of $170,000 (2020 – $300,000) 
from other related parties.

d) Purchases from related parties were $4,965,433  
(2020 – $4,163,054).

e) The Co‑operative had a short‑term loan with an indefinite 
term of $nil (2020 – $5,080,100) with ACDF. The interest 
expense related to this loan is $20,717 (2020 – $37,491).

The above noted transactions are recorded at the exchange 
amount agreed to by the related parties. Related parties 
include Kissarvik Co‑operative Association Limited, Arctic 
Co-operative Development Fund, ARDICOM Digital 
Communications Inc., and Nunavut Sealink and Supply Inc.

17. Government assistance  

During the year, the Co-operative received $24,712,181 (2020 
– $19,157,674) in government subsidies from Nutrition North 
Canada to provide residents in northern communities 
with improved access to nutritious food. The Co-operative 
applies these subsidies to reduce the cost of members’ 
purchases. Included in sales are $138,600 (2020 – $138,600) 
of administration fees from Nutrition North Canada.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

  2021  2020

Common shares   
 Balance, beginning of year 44,695,929 43,984,060
 Share capital redemptions (9,615,611) (10,088,131)
 Patronage allocation 10,000,000 10,800,000

 Balance, end of year 45,080,318 44,695,929
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During the year the Company received $270,783 (2020 – $nil) 
related to the Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy (CEWS) from 
the Federal Government that is included in other income.

18. Pension 

The Co-operative and qualifying employees make contributions 
to a multi‑employer defined contribution plan. The Co‑operative 
matches employee contributions at a rate of 6% of the 
employee salary. The expense and payments for the year  
ended December 31, 2021 were $600,333 (2020 – $575,683).

19. Financial instruments

The significant financial risks to which the Co‑operative is 
exposed are credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. 

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument 
will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 
discharge an obligation.

The Co-operative is exposed to credit risk from its members. 
However, the Co-operative has a large number of members, 
which minimizes the concentration of credit risk.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Co-operative will 
encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities.

Liquidity risk management serves to maintain an adequate 
amount of cash and to ensure the Co‑operative has sufficient 
financing available. The Co‑operative established budgetary 
and cash forecasts to ensure it has the funds necessary for 
fulfilling its obligations.

Adequate credit facilities to support short-term operating 
requirements are maintained to support operations. A credit 
line facility of up to $5.0 million is maintained with the Bank 
of Nova Scotia. The operating line of credit is secured by the 
Co¬operative’s accounts receivable and inventory. During 2021, 
the facility was not drawn upon.
 
Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument 
might be adversely affected by a change in the interest
rates. In seeking to minimize the risks from interest rate 
fluctuations, the Co‑operative manages exposure through its 
normal operating and financing activities.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

  2021  2020

Operating and administration expenses
 Advertising and promotion  815,898 622,545
 Bad debt recovery 684,560 (3,181,042)
 Board of Directors (Note 16)  247,144 169,667
 Communication  340,247 370,092
 Insurance  400,918 465,623
 Management fees  114,720 93,892
 Other expenses 1,833,791 519,399
 Postage and freight  61,286 45,318
 Professional development and services  1,362,152 991,771
 Rent 979,937 931,544
 Repairs and maintenance 932,728 977,306
 Salaries and benefits  18,543,585 17,756,713
 Supplies  447,284 419,387
 Taxes and licences  287,716 305,304
 Travel 760,664 819,162
 Utilities  1,042,079 987,536

  28,854,709 22,294,217

CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF OPERATING AND 
ADMINISTRATION EXPENSES (SCHEDULE 1)

For the year ended December 31, 2021
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  2021  2020

Other income (expense)
 Dividends from portfolio investments  4,564,253 2,990,781
 Other income (Note 16)  2,758,635 2,159,538
 Interest income, net of interest expense (Note 12), (Note 16) 452,744 233,754
 Income from equity investments  932,956 830,826
 Goodwill impairment (Note 8)  (828,750) (3,900,000)

  7,879,838 2,314,899

CONSOLIDATED SCHEDULE OF OTHER INCOME (SCHEDULE 2) 
For the year ended December 31, 2021
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To the Members of Arctic Co‑operative Development Fund: 

OPINION

We have audited the financial statements of Arctic 
Co-operative Development Fund (the “Company”), which 
comprise the balance sheet as at December 31, 2021, and the 
statements of savings, retained earnings and cash flows for 
the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements 
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the Company as at December 31, 2021, and the results 
of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended 
in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for 
private enterprises.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT  
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises, and 
for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is 
responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for 
overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT  
OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 

from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout 
the audit. We also:

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control.

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use 

of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures 
in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

Winnipeg, Manitoba  

February 24, 2022 Chartered Professional Accountants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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BALANCE SHEET
As at December 31, 2021

STATEMENT OF SAVINGS
For the year ended December 31, 2021

  2021  2020

Assets 
 Cash 9,726,092 3,493,108
 Accrued interest receivable 106,547 224,667
 Investment (Note 4) 8,800,000 10,000,000
 Member financing receivable (Note 5), (Note 6) 21,219,594 29,671,247
 Income taxes recoverable 512,253 97,311
 Future income taxes (Note 7) 1,416,947 1,452,586

  41,781,433 44,938,919

Liabilities
 Accounts payable (Note 8) 1,300,000 1,152,651
 Guarantees (Note 9) 4,784,000 4,996,061

  6,084,000 6,148,712

Members’ Equity
 Share capital (Note 10) 23,560,550 26,763,542
 Retained savings 1,936,883 1,826,665
 Contributed surplus (Note 6) 10,200,000 10,200,000

  35,697,433 38,790,207

  41,781,433 44,938,919

Approved by the Board of Directors

Director        Director

  2021 2020 

Interest income
 Member financing (Note 8)  2,083,174 2,223,269
 Bank  144,621 243,7267

  2,227,795 2,466,995

Expenses
 Board of directors  114,222 64,097
 Management advisory and education  281,673 281,673
 Meetings and travel  3,851 (3,731)
 Member and public relations  141,410 112,016
 Office  23,090 29,468
 Professional services  78,923 87,035
 Loan guarantee provision (recovery) (Note 9)  (212,061) 816,089
 Loan loss provision (Note 5)  804,784 277,655
 Wages and benefits  340,988 309,232

  1,576,880 1,973,534

Net savings before income taxes  650,915 493,461

Provision for (recovery of) income taxes
 Current  5,058 252,689
 Future 35,639 (226,970)

  40,697 25,719

Net savings  610,218 467,742

Distribution of net savings
 Patronage allocation (Note 10)  500,000 400,000
 Balance of net savings transferred to retained savings  110,218 67,742

Net savings  610,218 467,742The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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  2021  2020

Retained savings, beginning of year  1,826,665 1,758,923

Net savings transfer to retained savings for the year  110,218 67,742

Retained savings, end of year  1,936,883 1,826,665

  2021  2020

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities 
Operating activities
 Net savings  610,218 467,742
 Future income taxes  35,639 (226,970)
 Loan loss provision  804,784 277,655
 Loan guarantee provision (recovery)  (212,061) 816,089

  1,238,580 1,334,516
 Changes in working capital accounts

 Accrued interest receivable  118,120 (93,845)
 Income taxes recoverable  (414,942) (1,146,908)
 Accounts payable 147,349 (328,353)

  1,089,107 (234,590)

Financing activities
 Share capital assessments  356,543 288,470
 Share capital redemptions  (774,451) (4,301,248)

  (417,908) (4,012,778)

Investing activities
 Redemption of guaranteed investment certificates 1,200,000 —
 Financing provided to member co-operatives  (33,109,047) (42,941,631)
 Payments received from member co-operatives  37,470,832 45,839,835

  5,561,785 2,898,204

Increase (decrease) in cash resources  6,232,984 (1,349,164)

Cash resources, beginning of year  3,493,108 4,842,272

Cash resources, end of year  9,726,092 3,493,108

STATEMENT OF RETAINED SAVINGS
For the year ended December 31, 2021

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
For the year ended December 31, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended December 31, 2021

1. Incorporation and operations

Arctic Co-operative Development Fund (ACDF) was 
established in 1986 to provide financial services to member 
co-operatives across Canada’s Arctic. ACDF is a self-managed 
fund of pooled financial resources, owned and controlled by 
the co‑operative businesses receiving financing.

ACDF provides assistance to the member co-operatives 
through development, long‑term and working capital financing

2. Significant accounting policies

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
Canadian accounting standards for private enterprises (ASPE) 
and include the following significant accounting policies:

Income taxes

ACDF accounts for income taxes using the future income 
taxes method. Under this method, future income tax assets 
and liabilities are recorded based on temporary differences 
between the carrying amount of balance sheet items and their 
corresponding tax bases. In addition, the future benefits of 
income tax assets, including unused tax losses, are recognized, 
subject to a valuation allowance, to the extent that it is more 
likely than not that such future benefits will ultimately be 
realized. Future income tax assets and liabilities are measured 
using substantively enacted tax rates and laws expected 
to apply when the tax liabilities or assets are to be either 
settled or realized.

Income taxes for the current year are calculated after providing 
for patronage refunds of $500,000 (2020 – $400,000), which
ACDF is proposing to distribute out of current year’s savings 
and retained net savings, and which are deductible for 
tax purposes.

Measurement uncertainty (use of estimates)

The preparation of financial statements requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported 
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements 

and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during 
the reporting period.

Member financing receivable is stated after evaluation 
as to its collectability and an appropriate allowance for 
doubtful accounts is provided where considered necessary. 
Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of property 
and equipment.

These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically 
and, as adjustments become necessary they are reported in 
earnings in the periods in which they become known.

Financial instruments

a) Measurement of financial instruments

ACDF initially measures its financial assets and financial 
liabilities at fair value adjusted by, in the case of a financial 
instrument that will not be measured subsequently at fair 
value, the amount of transaction costs directly attributable to 
the instrument.

ACDF subsequently measures all its financial assets and 
financial liabilities at amortized cost.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost include cash, 
accrued interest receivable and member financing receivable.

Financial liabilities measured at amortized cost include 
accounts payable and guarantees.

b) Member financing receivable

Loans are recorded at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method of amortization, net of an allowance for loan losses.

Interest income is recognized using the effective interest 
method. When a loan becomes impaired, recognition of interest 
income ceases.
 
A loan is considered to be impaired when ACDF no longer 

has reasonable assurance that the full amount of principal 
and interest will be collected. ACDF generally considers loans 
impaired when scheduled payments of principal and/or 
interest are not made for six consecutive months. When a loan 
is considered impaired, the carrying amount is reduced to its 
estimated net realizable value. Estimated realizable amounts are 
determined by estimating the fair value of security underlying 
the loans and deducting costs of realization.

Loans are returned to amortized cost when the timely collection 
of both principal and interest is reasonably assured.

Foreclosed assets, if any, are considered to be held for sale and 
are recorded at fair value less costs to sell. If the specified criteria 
are not met, the asset is considered to be held for use, measured 
initially at fair value and accounted for in the same manner as a 
similar asset acquired in the normal course of business.

c) Allowance for loan losses

An allowance for loan losses is maintained at a level considered 
adequate to absorb potential credit losses inherent in 
the portfolio.

An allowance is established against the loan portfolio on a loan 
by loan basis after a prudent assessment of past experience 
and existing portfolio conditions indicate that probable 
losses have occurred. When necessary, a general allowance 
is established periodically and may fluctuate as a result of 
changes in portfolio volumes, concentrations and risk profile, 
analysis of evolving economic trends and management’s 
current assessment of other factors that have affected the 
condition of the portfolio.

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with 
ASPE requires management to make judgements, estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets 
and liabilities as at the date of the financial statements and 
the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the 
period covered by the financial statements.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and 
based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could 
differ from those estimates.

Significant accounting judgements, estimates 
and assumptions

In the process of applying ACDF’s accounting policies, 
management has made the following judgements, 
estimations and assumptions, which have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements:

Allowance for loan losses

ACDF reviews its loan portfolio to assess the allowance for 
loan losses. In determining whether an allowance for loan 
losses should be recorded in the statement of savings, ACDF 
makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data 
indicating an impairment trigger followed by a measurable 
decrease in the estimate future cash flows from the loan 
portfolio before the decrease can be identified with that 
portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating 
there has been an adverse change in the payment status of 
borrowers in the group, or national or local economic conditions 
that correlate with defaults on assets in ACDF. Management 
uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets 
with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of 
impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling 
its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used 
for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows 
are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss 
estimates and actual loss experience.

Loan guarantee liabilities

The financial statements include a provision for the loans 
guaranteed as disclosed in Note 9. The provision is based on 
management’s understanding of the financial condition of the 
applicable member co-operatives and discussions with the 
related lenders.

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Income taxes

The Company periodically assess its liabilities and contingencies 
related to income taxes for all years open to audit based on the 
latest information available. For matters where it is probable 
that an adjustment will be made, the Company records its best 
estimate of the tax liability including the related interest and 
penalties in the current tax provision. Management believes that 
they have adequately provided for the probable outcome of these 
matters; however, the final outcome may result in a materially 
different outcome than the amount included in the tax liabilities.

The uncertainties around the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic 
required the use of judgments and estimates which resulted in 
no material impact for the year ended December 31, 2021. The 
future impact of COVID-19 uncertainties could generate, in future 
reporting periods, a significant risk of material adjustment to the 
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses in the 
financial statements.

These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, 
as adjustments become necessary they are reported in earnings in 
the periods in which they become known.

4. Investment

The investment consists of a guaranteed investment 
certificate (GIC) of $8,800,000 held at Bank of Nova Scotia. 
The GIC bears interest at 0.43% - 1.37% and matures May 2022 - 
2026. The GIC is held as collateral on the guarantee (Note 9).

5. Member financing receivable

 

Development loans are provided in the form of either short-
term or long‑term financing to the member co‑operatives 
for purposes of improvement, expansion or replacement of 
facilities and equipment, as well as to enter into new business 
ventures and to assist emerging member co-operatives to 
become established.

Resupply loans are provided to member co-operatives to 
purchase up to one year’s supply of merchandise inventory 
or other material for the member co-operative to operate 
its business.

Refinancing loans are provided to member co‑operatives to 
stabilize and strengthen their operations while providing the 
member co-operative with the opportunity to increase their 
existing working capital and/or reduce their long-term debt in 
an orderly manner.

Most loans are subject to a 2% assessment used for the 
member co-operatives to purchase shares in ACDF.

Loans are converted into preferred shares of the member 
co-operatives to assist the co-operatives in restructuring 
their debt loads. These shares are to be redeemed by the 
co-operatives over the same duration as their original loans. 
Preferred shares are non-voting, non participating and have no 
specified cumulative dividend rate.

The interest rate on development loans is in the range 
of 4.00% to 10.00% (2020 – 4.00% to 10.00%). The interest 
rate on resupply loans is 10% (2020 – 10%). The interest 
rate on refinancing loans is in the range of 4.00% to 7.40% 
(2020 – 4.00% to 7.40%).

Since each member co-operative has various types of loans 
provided by ACDF, the allowance for loan losses generally 
cannot be categorized by loan types but instead is determined 
based on total loan exposure, net of security, on a member by 
member basis. The provision for loan losses is calculated as a 
percentage of loans outstanding and based on the financial 
condition of the member co-operatives. According to the 
ACDF bylaws, ACDF shall have a first and paramount lien on 
all shares issued to a member co-operative for such member’s 
debt to ACDF.

There were no recoveries of loans written off in prior periods 
and no loans foreclosed in the year.

As at December 31, 2021, there are no loans considered past 
due and impaired that have not been allowed for.

In the normal course of its operations, subject to cash 
availability and fulfillment of certain conditions by member 
co¬operative, ACDF intends to provide its member 
co‑operatives ongoing and replacement financing.

The financial statements include a provision for the loans 
guaranteed as disclosed in Note 9. The provision is based on 
management’s understanding of the financial condition of the 
applicable member co-operatives and discussions with the 
related lenders.

6. Contributed surplus 

The initial capital of $9,900,000 and $300,000 was 
provided by the Governments of Canada and the Northwest 
Territories, respectively.

7. Future income taxes

The tax effect of temporary differences which give rise to the 
future income taxes is from differences between accounts 
deducted for accounting and income tax purposes for the 
below items.

8. Related party transactions

Included in the accounts are the following balance and 
transaction with Arctic Co-operatives Limited (Arctic Co-ops), 
a company related by virtue of common control:

a) Member financing receivable includes loans amounting 
to $nil (2020 – $5,080,100) to Arctic Co-ops. Included 
in member financing income related to these loans is 
$126,876 (2020 – $114,549) from Arctic Co-ops.

b) Accounts payable include amounts due to Arctic Co-ops of 
$287,228 (2020 – $104,354) for operating expenses (see c) 
and $1,012,773 (2020 – $1,048,267) payable on demand.

c) Expenses include $982,595 (2020 – $877,263) allocated 
from Arctic Co-ops for the board of directors, management 
advisory and education, meetings and travel, member and 
public relations, office, professional services and wages 
and benefits for shared operating expenses. Arctic Co‑ops 
maintains the accounts of ACDF.

  2021  2020

Development loans 3,859,443 9,199,430
Resupply loans 9,360,829 5,297,036
Refinancing loans 11,621,290 12,727,865
Investment loans (Note 8) — 5,080,100
Preferred shares of 
member co-operatives 972,000 1,156,000

  25,813,562 33,460,431

Allowance for loan losses (4,593,968) (3,789,184)

  21,219,594 29,671,247

  2021  2020

Future income tax asset 
Allowance for bank guarantees 1,413,974 1,449,457
Eligible capital property 2,973 3,129

  1,416,947 1,452,586
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d) Arctic Co-ops was allocated a gross patronage allocation 
of $28,241 (2020 – $10,470) and was charged share capital 
assessments of $21,198 (2020 – $21,412). Share capital of 
$445,850 was redeemed during the year (2020 – $243,853). 
As at December 31, 2021, Arctic Co-ops holds share capital 
of ACDF of $2,551,870 (2020 – $2,952,501).

All related party transactions are recorded at the exchange 
amount agreed to by the related parties.

9. Guarantees

The Company has entered into an arrangement to guarantee 
the loan obligations of three of its member co-operatives. The 
balances as at December 31, 2021 are as follows:

• Katudgevik Co‑operative Association Limited, $5,940,000, 
bearing interest of 1.40%

· Arctic Co-operatives Limited, $nil

· Sanavik Co-operative Association Limited, $438,668, 
bearing interest of 3.18% 

The loans bear interest and are repayable by the members in 
monthly interest and principal.

The Company has pledged an amount currently on deposit 
with the lender (Note 4) as security for the guarantee. 
While the loans are the obligations of the members, at 
December 31, 2021, the Company maintains a reserve for the 
potential risk associated with the guarantee of $4,784,000 
(2020 – $4,996,061).

10. Share capital

The shares are issued and redeemed at $1 each.    

Share capital redemptions of $3,285,084 (2020 – $6,153,394) 
were used to repay member financing receivables of the 
same amount.

11. Financial instruments

The significant financial risks to which ACDF is exposed are 
credit risk, interest rate risk and liquidity risk. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk one party to a financial instrument will 
cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge 
an obligation.

ACDF is exposed to credit risk from cash, GIC investment and 
member financing receivables. However, cash and the GIC 
investment is held at a major Canadian bank and the number 
of member co-operatives provides for long-term system 
support and minimizes the concentration of credit risk. In 
addition, ACDF has a first and paramount lien on all shares 
issued to the member co-operatives.
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ACDF monitors its credit risk and exposure through the 
following activities performed by Arctic Co‑ops:

• board established guidelines and policy;

· business assessment tools used to support board level 
loan applications;

· a review system of existing portfolio conditions to establish 
the loan loss provision (as summarized in Note 4);

· impairment based on adopted non-performance policy 
(as summarized in Note 5); and

· regular reporting to senior management and the board 
of directors.

As at December 31, 2021, the maximum credit risk exposure, 
net of share capital investment in ACDF, is $12,591,464 
and there are no outstanding finance commitments. 
The maximum individual exposure, net of share capital 
investment in ACDF, is $1,652,494 as at December 31, 2021.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk the fair value or future cash flows 
of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates.

ACDF is exposed to interest rate risk from member financing 
receivables. However, the risk is minimized as most of the 
member financing receivables bear fixed interest rates, as 
described in Note 5, and are generally funded out of internal 
cash resources rather than third party sources. There is no 
bank indebtedness or long-term debt outstanding as at 
December 31, 2021. Cash balances are generally invested in 
deposit accounts and earn variable rates of interest.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that ACDF will encounter difficulty in 
meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.

ACDF is dependant on the financial condition of the member 
co-operatives and their repayment of principal and interest 
to fund future lending activities and operations. To mitigate 
short‑term disruptions in funding, ACDF maintains significant 
cash reserves and patronage allocations are not distributed 
in cash but are reinvested in additional shares of ACDF on the 
member co-operatives’ behalf.

  2021  2020

Balance, beginning of year 26,763,542 32,822,739
Share capital assessments 356,543 288,470
Share capital redemptions  (4,059,535) (6,747,667)

  23,060,550 26,363,542

Patronage allocation 500,000 400,000

Balance, end of year 23,560,550 26,763,542
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